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Overview

On 29 September 2008, following shareholders’ approval, the Company successfully completed a reverse 
acquisition of Honour Field International Limited (“Honour Field”), together with its subsidiary (the “Honour 
Field Group”), following which the Group’s core business became the manufacture and distribution of food 
preservatives, namely Sorbic Acid and Potassium Sorbate in Linyi City,  Shandong province of the People’s 
Republic of China (the “PRC”). Reflecting this change in principal activity, and the successful implementation 
of its investment strategy, the Company aptly renamed itself Sorbic International Plc (“Sorbic International”).

The Honour Field Group was acquired for a consideration of up to £20.12 million, excluding acquisition 
costs of £0.86 million, which equated to an historic price to earnings multiple of approximately 7.1 times.  
The consideration was satisfied through the issuance of 9,860,000 new ordinary shares in the Company 
and up to a further 10,300,000 to be issued conditional upon Honour Field Group meeting the net profit 
after tax target of Renminbi 60 million (“profit target”). The total consideration includes 6,666,666 New 
Ordinary Shares issued on conversion of the Albany Convertible Loan and the Hermes Convertible 
Loan. As a consequence, the vendor of the Honour Field Group became the majority shareholders of the 
Company.  In accordance with the reverse acquisition accounting policy adopted by the Company (further 
details of which are set out in Note 2.1 below), the financial statements include the results of Honour Field 
and its subsidiary, as if it were the acquirer, for the entire nine month period ended 30 September 2008 
and the results of Sorbic International, as if it were the acquired company, from 29 September 2008 to 30 
September 2008.

The Group produces food preservatives, namely Sorbic Acid and Potassium Sorbate, under the “Goldvan” 
brand names from its current 33,000 square metre factory site in Linyi City. In order for Sorbic International 
to be better positioned to service anticipated growth in demand for its products, it has acquired land 
immediately adjacent to its present site with total area of approximately 14,700 square metres.  A new 
manufacturing facility for the Group is currently being planned. With the new plant, production capacity is 
expected to reach 15,000 tonnes per annum or double the existing production capacity.  It is expected to 
be completed and commissioned in the 4th quarter of 2009.

Sorbic International is a well established and proven business in the PRC with customers in more than 
46 countries.  It is a profitable business with the opportunity for continued commercial development and 
sustainable long term growth.

Global demand for Sorbic Acid and Potassium Sorbate has increased as a result of the increase in the 
world’s population and higher demand for food. With the steady growth of the global population, increased 
production of food products is essential to ensure adequate food supply. The continuous increase in food 
production has significantly increased the importance of, and demand for, food preservatives. 



2008 Performance

Nine month period 
ended 30 September 

2008

Year ended 31 
December 2007 

(Proforma)
Annualised 

percentage Change
£ £

Revenue 11,661,255 11,653,928 +33.4%
Profit after tax 2,799,581 2,565,346 +45.5%
Gross profit margin 37.50% 32.54%
Net profit margin 24.00% 22.01%

The consolidated results for the nine month period ended 30 September 2008 show turnover of £11.66 
million (year ended 31 December 2007: £11.65 million) and profit after tax of £2.80 million (2007: £2.57 
million).  This represents annualised growth of approximately 33.4% in turnover and 45.5% in profit after 
tax respectively.

Gross margin improved slightly from 32.5% to 37.5%, while net profit margin improved from 22.0% to 
24.0%. 

In summary, the Group performed well achieving earnings per share of 16.9 pence (2007: 15.5 pence), 
representing growth (on an annualised basis) of approximately 45.4%. 

Strategy and Outlook

The food additive industry in PRC is highly competitive. However, Sorbic International is well placed 
compared to its competitors due to its long-standing emphasis on the quality of its products. The 
quality and process certifications gained have given Sorbic International a competitive advantage over its 
competitors hence it is able to price its products at a slight premium to the average market price.  

The Group’s existing manufacturing facility is currently running at near 100% of its designed production 
capacity.  Accordingly, the Group’s primary strategy is to increase the production capacity and raise the 
brand positioning of its products.  To address the Group’s capacity constraints, the Board intends to 
introduce two new state-of-the-art production lines with the capacity to produce 7,500-tonnes of Sorbic 
Acid and Potassium Sorbates per annum.  The production lines are expected to be operational in the last 
quarter of 2009. 

To take full advantage of the new factory and the Group’s range of premium products, the Group has 
intensified its branding activities.  This process includes price revision, re-designing product packaging and a 
revised advertising and marketing strategy.  The Group also intends to strengthen its sales and marketing 
team as it begins to more aggressively target expansion.  
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While construction and commissioning of our new production lines will continue throughout the remainder 
of 2008 and into 2009, we expect to maintain its current operating level during the period as we 
implement our strategy to improve the brand positioning of our products and further develop our range 
of premium items.  Our aim is to maximise revenue and profit generation from our existing production 
facilities and prepare the market for the higher volume of our premium products when the new production 
facilities become fully operational.

Corporate Developments

Following completion of the reverse takeover on 29 September 2008, the board of directors was 
reconstituted. In addition to the appointment of the executive directors associated with Honour Field 
comprising Wang Yan Ting (President), Ray Ang (CEO) and Susan Chong (CFO), we also invited Nicholas 
Smith, to join the Board as a non-executive director.  Nicholas has extensive experience in Asia and in 
particular in the commercial sectors in China.  Michael Gretton and Thomas Vaughan stepped down from 
the board and I take this opportunity to thank each of them for their support and dedication in assisting 
Ninety in successfully implementing its investment strategy. 

To complement and support the new Board, we have also introduced a new team of professional advisers.  
In particular, with the appointment of our auditors, Mazars LLP, the Board is committed to maintaining a 
high standard of corporate governance, financial controls and reporting systems.

Outlook

We are delighted with the progress that the Group has made in the current financial year to date which is 
in line with management expectations and look forward to the new production facility coming on stream at 
the end of 2009 which will provide a solid platform for what we believe will be the continued prosperous 
growth of Sorbic International.

John McLean 
Chairman

23 December 2008
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AS AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2008

The Directors are pleased to present their report to the members together with the audited financial statements of 
Sorbic International Plc (the “Company” or “Sorbic International”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the period ended 
30 September 2008.

Principal Activities

The Company was incorporated on 15 June 2007 and the accounting reference date was extended to 30 September 
2008.  The Company’s main activity was that of investment until 29 September 2008, when it acquired Honour Field 
International Limited (“Honour Field”) and its subsidiaries. At that date, the Company changed its name from Ninety Plc 
to Sorbic International Plc. 

Honour Field, an investment holding company incorporated in British Virgin Islands on 3 July 2007 has one wholly owned 
subsidiary in the Shandong province, People’s Republic of China (as set out in note 2(i)(b)), which is principally engaged in 
the manufacture and distribution of food preservatives, namely Sorbic Acid and Potassium Sorbate.  

The purchase of the Honour Field Group has been treated as a reverse acquisition in these financial statements, and 
accordingly the consolidated income statement shows the results of the Honour Field Group from 1 January 2008 to 
30 September 2008, with the results of Sorbic International Plc included from 29 September 2008 to 30 September 
2008. Further details are set out in note 2.  The results of the Company are included for the fifteen month period for 
incorporation on 15 June 2007 to 30 September 2008.

The results of the Group are set out in detail on page 16.

Business Review

A review of the business and future developments is given in the Chairman’s Statement.

Financial Review

We have delivered strong performance for the reporting nine month period ended 30 September 2008 as compared to 
the twelve months ended 31 December 2007.

 Nine month period ended Year ended Percentage
 30 September 2008 31 December 2007 Change

Revenue £11.66m £11.65m +0.06%
EBITDA £3.68m £3.60m +2.22%
Profit before taxation £3.26m £3.08m +6.00%
Profit after taxation £2.80m £2.57m +9.13%
Cash and cash equivalents £6.50m £3.69m +76.43%
Net assets £10.23m £4.40m +132.81%
Earnings per share – basic £0.17 £0.16 +8.96%
Earnings per share – diluted £0.17 £0.16 +8.96%
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Key Performance Indicators

The Company was established to seek to acquire a controlling interest in a company, partnership or joint venture located 
in Europe, North America or Asia. The Company’s focus is on potential acquisition targets trading in any of the following 
sectors: investment, consumer goods, engineering, industrials, leisure and hotels, media and entertainment, professional 
and support services, retailing, technology and telecommunications. Its investment strategy is to seek suitable targets for 
investment or acquisition that have some of the following characteristics:

•	 An	experienced	management	team	in	place;
•	 Good	prospects,	either	in	an	established	market	or	as	an	early	move	in	a	high	growth	market;
•	 Quoted	or	unquoted;	and
•	 Located	in	Europe,	North	America	or	Asia.

In evaluating the performance of the Company, the Company has acquired Honour Field Group which has an established 
management team in the food preservative industry.  Located in the PRC, the Honour Field Group is one of the largest 
and well managed producers of Sorbic Acid and Potassium Sorbate.  The Company completed its purchase on 29 
September 2008.

The Board has assessed that it has achieved its target in securing a target with the required characteristics and within the 
management targeted timeline.

Group Income Statement

With continuous demands for the Group’s products, turnover for the nine months period of 2008 reached £11.66m 
compared with the 2007 full year results of £11.65m while net profit for nine months period in 2008 increased by 
9.13% to £2.80m (year ended 31 December 2007: £2.57m). A review of 2008 nine months performance is given in the 
Chairman’s Statement.

Group Balance Sheet

As at 30 September 2008, the Group’s net assets stood at £10.23 million (31 December 2007: £4.40 million). 

Risks affecting the Group

General economic climate

The general economic climate is volatile and is affected by numerous factors which are beyond the Group’s control and 
which may affect its operations, business and profitability.  With the slowing world economy, particularly in the United 
States, Europe and the PRC, there can be no guarantee that the Group will sustain the level of growth it has experienced 
in recent years.   

Competition

The Group operates in a competitive market.  In particular, some competitors may have access to greater financial 
resources and technical facilities than the Group, which may give them a competitive advantage.  Due to the economic 
climate, competitors may also reduce prices which may affect the Group’s margins.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT



Annual Report 2008

7

AS AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2008

Dependence on key executives and personnel

The future performance of the Group will depend on its ability to retain the services and personal connections or 
contacts of key executives and to recruit, motivate and retain other suitably skilled, qualified and industry experienced 
personnel.  Such key executives are expected to play an important role in the development and growth of the Group, 
in particular by maintaining good business relationships with regulatory and governmental departments and the Group’s 
existing customers, distributors and suppliers.

Dependence on licences, registrations, certifications and accreditations

Certain business operations of the Group are dependent on various licences, registrations, certifications and accreditations.  
The Directors are not aware of any occasion where the Group has been unable to renew its licences or registrations, or 
had its certifications or accreditations revoked. 

Failure to meet health & safety, hygiene, environmental and other regulatory standards and approvals

The Group’s businesses are subject to annual inspections and periodic checks by the relevant authorities in the People’s 
Republic of China (“PRC”) to ensure that their activities comply with applicable health and safety, hygiene and other 
environmental standards.  In the event that they fail to pass such inspections or checks or otherwise fail to comply with 
and meet the requisite standards, the relevant authorities may require them to suspend their operations temporarily until 
such time as they are able to meet the requisite standards or may impose penalties and fines on them for the breach 
or may even withdraw or suspend their licences or permits or otherwise restrict or prohibit them from continuing their 
operations, all of which may have an adverse effect on the business and operations, financial results or financial position of 
the Group.

Exposure to environmental liability

The PRC national and provincial environmental protection rules and regulations impose certain fees for the discharge 
of waste material and penalties or fines for environmental pollution. These rules and regulations also grant the relevant 
environmental regulatory bodies the power to order the closure of any facility which causes serious environmental 
problems. Although the production processes carried on at the Group’s facilities in the PRC do not discharge large 
amounts of pollutants into the environment, there is no guarantee that new requirements promulgated by the relevant 
authorities in the PRC will not disrupt the Group's production or require the Group to incur additional expenses in 
relation to environmental protection.

New PRC Legislation

As at the date of this document, the Company had not received the specific written approval of the CSRC for the 
acquisition of the Chinese subsidiary. We have been given comfort by the authorities that the acquisition of the PRC 
entity will be approved. In the event the rules and regulations change, this may affect the Company completing the 
acquisition of the PRC entity.

Foreign exchange risks

The Group’s dominant transactional currency is RMB, including the cost of materials which are imported by its suppliers. 
However, the Group is exposed to fluctuations in the price of imported raw materials and any future significant 
fluctuations in foreign exchange rates may have a material impact on its financial performance in the event that the Group 
is unable to pass on the increased costs to its customers.
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AS AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2008

Future funding requirements

Although not presently anticipated, the Group may, in the future, need to obtain additional debt or raise additional equity 
funds to finance its working capital or capital expenditure requirements or to make acquisitions and finance its growth 
through future stages of development.

Financial risk management

The Board reviews and agrees policies for managing financial risks.  The financial risk management objectives and policies 
of the Group are set out in note 3 to the financial statements.

Share Capital

The issued share capital of the Company was subject to a number of changes during the period as a result of the process 
of acquiring the Honour Field Group, share placement and the associated share consolidation.  Further details of the 
issued share capital are set out in note 24. The total number of shares in issue, both at the 30 September 2008 and at 23 
December 2008 was 23,088,500.

Dividends

The Directors do not recommend payment of a dividend in respect of the period ended 30 September 2008.

Directors

The following directors served the company during the period:

John	Nigel	Major	McLean	 (Non-executive	Chairman;	appointed	on	14	August	2008)
Ray	Ang	Wee	Boon	 (Chief	Executive	Director;	appointed	on	30	September	2008)
Wang	Yan	Ting	 (President	and	Executive	Director;	appointed	on	30	September	2008)
Susan	Chong	Hooi	San	 (Chief	Financial	Officer ;	appointed	on	30	September	2008)
Nicholas	Michael	Norman	Smith	 (Non-executive	Director;	appointed	on	30	September	2008)
Michael	Gretton	 	(Non-executive	 Director ;	 appointed	 26	 July	 2007,	 resigned	 on	 30	

September 2008)
Thomas	Francis	Vaughan	 	(Non-executive	 Director ;	 appointed	 15	 June	 2007,	 resigned	 on	 30	

September 2008)
Angus	James	William	Irens	 (Director;	appointed	15	June	2007,	resigned	on	14	August	2008)

Two of the directors have had a material interest in a contract or arrangement of significance to which the company or 
any of its subsidiaries was a party during the period. Please refer to note 20.

Employees

The Board recognises that the Group’s employees are its most important asset.  Employees are encouraged to train and 
develop their careers.

The Board maintains good working relations with employees by the use of clear channels of communication.  The 
responsibility for communication with the workforce rests with the managers through formal and informal meetings.

The Group is committed to achieving equal opportunities and to complying with anti-discrimination legislation.
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Disabled Employees

The Group’s policy is to recruit disabled workers for those vacancies that they are able to fill.  All necessary assistance 
with initial training courses is given.  Once employed, a career plan is developed so as to ensure suitable opportunities for 
each disabled person.  Arrangements are made, whenever possible, for re-training employees who become disabled, to 
enable them to perform work identified as appropriate to their aptitudes and ability.

Environmental policy

The Group is committed to operating in an environmentally responsible manner and endeavours to adopt the best 
practicable means to reduce or eliminate polluting releases to the environment or in the disposal of waste products.  The 
Group is committed to complying with environmental legislative requirements

Creditor payment policy

It is the Group’s policy that payments to suppliers are made in accordance with all relevant terms and conditions.  The 
payment policy applies to all payments to creditors for revenue and capital supplies of goods and services.  At the balance 
sheet date, there were 22 (2007: 10) days’ purchases outstanding, calculated on the ratio of average trade creditors to 
total cost of sales.

General meeting

The next General Meeting will be held at the Company’s registered office (17 Hanover Square, London, W1S 1HU) on 
Wednesday 14th January, 2009 .

Substantial shareholding

The Company has been notified that the following shareholders’ interests exceeded 3% of the Company’s issued ordinary 
share capital at the date of this report:-

   Percentage of
  Number of  issued share
Shareholder  Ordinary shares capital

Prime Mega International Limited***  9,860,000 42.71%
JM Finn Nominees Limited**  5,213,610 22.58%
Albany Capital Plc****  4,408,332 19.09%
Hermes Financial Group (BVI) Limited  2,222,222 9.62%

**In addition to the direct shareholding of 4,408,332 ordinary shares in Sorbic International, Albany Capital Plc also hold 
4,444,444 ordinary shares through JM Finn Nominees Limited resulting in an effective 38.34% shareholding of Sorbic 
International.

*** Ray Ang Wee Boon is the 100% beneficiary owner of Prime Mega International Limited and the 100% ultimate 
beneficiary owner of Hermes Financial Group (BVI) Limited and Hermes Capital Limited.  As such, Ray Ang has a 
direct interest of 12,082,222 representing 52.33% of the Company.  Ray Ang is also directly interested in the Deferred 
Consideration Shares of 10,300,000 and 400,000 share options.

**** John Mclean is a director and shareholder of Albany Capital Limited.  As such, he is deemed interested in 8,852,776 
shares held by Albany Capital Limited representing 38.34% of the Company.
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Share Options Outstanding

As at 30 September 2008, Hermes Capital Limited and JM Finn Capital Market Limited had been granted 400,000 and 
200,000 share options, respectively, pursuant to services provided as disclosed in note 25.

Deferred Consideration Share – Escrow Scheme

As part of the consideration for the acquisition disclosed in note 25, the following deferred contingent consideration is 
due if a specific profit target is met:

   Number of shares

Prime Mega International Limited   10,300,000

Wholly Owned Foreign Enterprise (“WOFE”)

As at 30 September 2008, Linyi Van Science and Technique Co. Limited (an indirect subsidiary undertaking of Sorbic 
International plc) had not yet obtained its WOFE status in PRC.

Donations

The Group made no charitable or political donations during the period.

Statement of directors’ responsibilities

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable 
law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial period.  Under the law, the directors 
have elected to prepare financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, as adopted 
for use by the EU (“IFRS”).  The financial statements are required by law to give a true and fair view of the state of 
affairs of the Group and Company and of the profit and loss of the Group for that period.  In preparing those financial 
statements, the directors are required to:

	 •	 select	suitable	accounting	policies	and	then	apply	them	consistently;
	 •	 make	judgements	and	estimates	that	are	reasonable	and	prudent;
	 •	 	state	 whether	 applicable	 IFRS	 have	 been	 followed,	 subject	 to	 any	 material	 departures	 disclosed	 and	

explained	in	the	financial	statements;
	 •	 	prepare	the	financial	statements	on	the	going	concern	basis	unless	 it	 is	 inappropriate	to	presume	that	the	

Group and Company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time 
the financial position of the Group and Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with 
the Companies Act 1985.  They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of both the Group and Company and 
hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
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In so far as the directors are aware:

	 •	 there	is	no	relevant	audit	information	of	which	the	Company’s	auditors	are	unaware;	and
	 •	 	the	directors	have	taken	all	steps	that	they	ought	to	have	taken	to	make	themselves	of	any	relevant	audit	

information and to establish that the auditors are aware of that information.

To the extent that financial information is made available on the Company’s website, the directors confirm that they are 
responsible for the maintenance and integrity of that information.  However, as the Internet is accessible in many countries 
with different legal requirements relating to the preparation and dissemination of financial statements, the directors can 
give no undertaking that it meets all requirements in all countries in which it may be considered to be published.

Auditors

Mazars LLP were appointed as auditors to the Company during the period. In accordance with Section 385 of the 
Companies Act 1985, (section 489 of the Companies Act 2006), a resolution for the reappointment of Mazars LLP as 
auditors of the Company is to be proposed at the next Annual General Meeting.

By order of the Board

John McLean
Chairman
23 December 2008
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The Company is committed to observing good standards of corporate governance.  In this report, we describe the 
Company’s	 corporate	 governance	 processes	 and	 activities	with	 reference	 to	 the	 principles	 of	 the	Quoted	Companies	
Alliance’s Corporate Governance Guidelines.

The main features of the Company’s corporate governance procedures are as follows:

The Board

The Board comprises of John McLean (Chairman), Ray Ang Wee Boon, Wang Yan Ting, Susan Chong Hooi San and 
Nicholas Smith.

The Board meets ten times a year, and otherwise as required.  Board Meetings involve detailed reviews of the operations 
and performance of the Group.  Additional meetings are convened to discuss matters that require urgent consideration.  
The Board has defined a schedule of matters specifically reserved for its decision and delegates certain powers to the 
Board committees and to the executive directors, collectively and individually.

Committees of the Board

The Audit Committee, chaired by John McLean, meets at least twice a year with the Company’s external auditors present.  
Its roles mainly include the review of the financial statements, internal controls and the scope and cost of the audit.  The 
executive directors may also be invited to attend its meetings, where the Committee considers it to be appropriate.

The Remuneration Committee, chaired by Nicholas Smith, is responsible for making recommendations to the Board on 
remuneration policy for directors, including the setting of directors’ salaries and incentive payments.  The Committee is 
also in charge of recommending the granting of share options to employees.

Relations with Shareholders

The Board considers it important to communicate a balanced and understandable assessment of the Group’s 
performance and prospects to all investors.  The Board maintains frequent contact with institutional investors through 
regular meetings.  The Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) is regarded by the Board as an important opportunity to meet 
and communicate with individual shareholders.  Shareholders are given ample time and opportunity at the company’s 
AGM to express their views and put forward their questions to directors or management concerning the Group.  The 
Board welcomes the views of all shareholders, and other stakeholders, which in the first instance should be communicated 
to the Chairman.

Internal Control

The Board is ultimately responsible for the Group’s system of internal controls, including financial, operational, compliance 
control and risk management, and for reviewing and monitoring its effectiveness.  The system of internal controls is 
designed to manage and minimise risk, rather than eliminate it.  In pursuing these objectives internal controls can only 
provide a reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatements or loss.

The Group’s system of internal control is designed to assist its business objectives, safeguard the group’s assets, ensure 
compliance with regulation and provide reliable financial information.  Regular management meetings review all aspects of 
the Group’s business including any inherent or identified risks.  Executive management review the significant risks affecting 
the business and the policies and procedures by which these risks are managed.   

The Board has engaged an external party to provide internal audit services who conduct an annual independent review.  
The internal auditors’ plans are reviewed by and discussed with the Chairman of the Audit Committee. Through this 
process, risks are identified and assessed according to their potential impact and likelihood of occurrence and appropriate 
actions are assigned.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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There are established procedures for budgeting and planning capital expenditure, together with the reporting systems 
for monitoring the Group’s business and performance.  There is a rolling three month forecast in place, which is used 
to assess the financial impact of the Group’s strategy, together with a comprehensive budgeting system with an annual 
budget approved by the Board.  A monthly report to the Board details the financial performance of the Group for the 
preceding period versus budget.

The external auditors, who are engaged to express an opinion on the Group’s financial statements, also consider the 
systems of internal financial control to the extent necessary to express that opinion.  Internal and external auditors 
report the results of their work to management, including executive members of the Board and the Audit Committee.

The Board has adopted the Share Dealing Code for the purpose of compliance with Rule 21 of the AIM Rules and takes 
steps to ensure compliance with that rule by the Group’s employees.

The Board confirms that there is a continuing process for identifying, evaluating and managing the risk faced by the Group.  
Through the procedures outlined above, the Board has considered all significant aspects of control during the period 
under review and to date.

Going concern

Having considered the position of the Group, the Board believes that the Group has appropriate and adequate resources 
to continue its strategy and operations for the foreseeable future.  For this reason they continue to adopt a going concern 
basis in preparing the financial statements.
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TO THE MEMBERS OF SORBIC INTERNATIONAL PLC

We have audited the Group and parent company financial statements (the “financial statements”) of Sorbic International 
plc for the period ended 30 September 2008 which comprise the consolidated income statement, the consolidated and 
company balance sheets, the consolidated and company cash flow statements, the consolidated and company statement 
of changes in shareholders’ equity and related notes. These financial statements have been prepared under the accounting 
policies set out therein.

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Section 235 of the Companies Act 
1985. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are 
required to state to them in an auditors’ report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do 
not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s members as a body, for our 
audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

The Directors’ responsibilities for preparing the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union are set out in the Statement of Directors’ 
Responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and 
International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). 

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true and fair view and whether the financial 
statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985. We also report to you whether in 
our opinion the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the financial statements. 

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, the Company has not kept proper accounting records, if we have not 
received all the information and explanations we require for our audit, or if information specified by law regarding 
directors’ remuneration and transactions with the Company is not disclosed.

We read other information contained in the Annual Report, and consider whether it is consistent with the audited 
financial statements. This other information comprises only the Chairman’s Statement and Corporate Governance 
Statement. We consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material 
inconsistencies with the financial statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to any other financial information.

Basis of audit opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing 
Practices Board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgements made by the Directors 
in the preparation of the financial statements, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Company's 
circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered 
necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are 
free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also 
evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial statements.
 

REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
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Opinion
In our opinion: 

•	 	the	Group	 financial	 statements	 give	 a	 true	 and	 fair	 view,	 in	 accordance	with	 IFRSs	 as	 adopted	by	 the	European	
Union,	of	the	state	of	the	Group’s	affairs	as	at	30	September	2008	and	of	its	profit	for	the	period	then	ended;

•	 	the	 parent	 company	 financial	 statements	 give	 a	 true	 and	 fair	 view,	 in	 accordance	with	 IFRSs	 as	 adopted	 by	 the	
European Union as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 1985, of the state of the 
parent	company’s	affairs	as	at	30	September	2008;

•	 the	financial	statements	have	been	properly	prepared	in	accordance	with	the	Companies	Act	1985;	and
•	 the	information	given	in	the	Directors’	Report	is	consistent	with	the	financial	statements.

Mazars LLP 
Chartered Accountants
Registered Auditors
Tower Bridge House
St Katharine’s Way
London E1W 1DD

23 December 2008

Note: The maintenance and integrity of the Sorbic International plc website is the responsibility of the Directors.  The 
work carried out by the auditors does not involve consideration of these matters and accordingly the auditors accept no 
responsibility for any changes that may have occurred to the financial statements since they were originally presented on 
the website.  Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may 
differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
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  Nine month period  Year ended
  ended 30 September 31 December
  2008 2007
   (pro forma)
 Notes £ £

Turnover 5 11,661,255 11,653,928
Cost of sales  (7,288,363) (7,861,680)   

Gross profit  4,372,892 3,792,248
Distribution and selling expenses  (131,172) (218,798)
Administrative expenses  (849,667) (296,250)   

Profit from operations  3,392,053 3,277,200
Finance income 7 57,312 25,630
Finance costs 8 (184,370) (222,875)   

Profit before tax  3,264,995 3,079,955
Income tax expense 10 (465,414) (514,609)   

Profit for the period attributable to
  equity holders of the Company 11 2,799,581 2,565,346   

Earning per share
- Basic 12 0.17 0.16
- Diluted 12 0.17 0.16

The notes on pages 26 to 64 are an integral part of these financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
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  As at As at
  30 September 31 December
  2008 2007
   (pro forma)
 Notes £ £
Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 14 4,143,381 3,693,185
Land use rights 15 1,541,067 1,307,173
Prepayments 16 477,013 -   

  6,161,461 5,000,358   

Current assets
Inventories 17 391,358 705,794
Trade receivables 18 1,774,080 1,115,342
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 19 94,898 3,708
Amount due from related company –
  Hermes Financial 20 2,216,383 -
Cash and cash equivalents 21 6,501,950 3,685,380   
  10,978,669 5,510,224   
Total assets  17,140,130 10,510,582   

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade payables  520,769 390,196
Advanced payments  63,540 43,041
Accruals and other payables  450,363 106,908
Amount due to shareholders 22 - 3,473,464
Amount due to directors 22 3,163,418 -
Borrowings 23 2,096,952 1,913,793
Current tax liabilities  315,436 186,960
Amount due to related company –Hermes Capital 20 72,444 -
Amount due to related company –Albany Capital 20  222,271 -   
  6,905,193 6,114,362   

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
  As at As at
  30 September 31 December
  2008 2007
   (pro forma)
 Notes £ £

Equity
Capital and reserves attributable to equity
   holders of the company
Share capital 24 1,385,310 -
Share premium 24 14,274,196 -
Capital reserves  2,290,956 1,913,469
Surplus reserves  408,393 341,100
Retained earnings   4,210,259 1,282,411
Share based payment reserve  30,000 -
Reverse acquisition reserve  (20,911,925) 730,973
Shares to be issued – Escrow scheme  7,725,000 -
Foreign currency translation reserve  822,748 128,267   

Total equity   10,234,937 4,396,220   
Total equity and liabilities  17,140,130 10,510,582   

These financial statements were approved by the Directors on 23 December 2008, and signed on their behalf by:

John McLean
Non executive chairman

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET 
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   As at
   30 September
   2008
 Notes  £

Assets
Non-current assets
Investment in subsidiary 30  17,983,735
Amount due from subsidiary   3,000,000   
   20,983,735   

Current assets
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 19  323,577
Cash and cash equivalents  21  2,848,637   
Total current assets   3,172,214   
Total assets   24,155,949   

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade payables   343,973
Accruals and other payables   274,954
Amount due to related company – Albany Capital 20  222,271   
Total current liabilities   841,198   

Equity
Capital and reserves attributable to equity
   holders of the company
Share capital 24  1,385,310
Share premium 24  14,274,196
Share based payment reserve   30,000
Share to be issued – Escrow scheme   7,725,000
Accumulated loss     (99,755)   
   23,314,751   
Total equity and liabilities   24,155,949   

These financial statements were approved by the Directors on 23 December 2008, and signed on their behalf by:

John McLean
Non executive chairman

COMPANY BALANCE SHEET
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Share 
capital

£

Share 
premium

£

Capital 
reserve

£

Surplus 
reserve

£

Retained 
earnings

£

Share 
based 

payment 
reserve

£

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

£

Reverse 
acquisition 

reserve

£

Shares to 
be issued-

Escrow 
scheme

£

Total 
equity

£

At 1 January 
2007 - - 1,913,469 341,100 2,487,858 - - 730,973 - 5,473,400

Profit for the 
year - - - - 2,565,346 - - - -  2,565,346

Foreign 
currency 
translation 
differences - - - - - - 128,267 - - 128,267

Dividends paid - - - - (3,770,793) - - - - (3,770,793)

At 31 
December 
2007 - - 1,913,469 341,100 1,282,411 - 128,267 730,973 -4,396,220

CONSOLIDATED	STATEMENT	OF	CHANGES	IN	EQUITY
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Share 
capital

£

Share 
premium

£

Capital 
reserve

£

Surplus 
reserve

£

Retained 
earnings

£

Share 
based 

payment 
reserve

£

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

£

Reverse 
acquisition 

reserve

£

Shares to 
be issued-

Escrow 
scheme

£

Total 
equity

£

At 1 January 
2008 - - 1,913,469 341,100 1,282,411 - 128,267 730,973 - 4,396,220

Foreign 
currency 
translation 
differences - - 377,487 67,293 128,267 - 694,481 - - 1,267,528

Issue of 
ordinary 
shares 393,710 3,096,414 - - - - - - - 3,490,124

Share-options 
granted - - - - - 30,000 - - - 30,000

Reverse 
acquisition of 
Honour Field 991,600 11,403,400 - - - - - (21,642,898) 7,725,000 (1,522,898)

Share issue 
costs - (225,618) - - - - - - - (225,618)

Profit for the 
period - - - - 2,799,581 - - - - 2,799,581

At 30 
September 
2008 1,385,310 14,274,196 2,290,956 408,393 4,210,259 30,000 822,748 (20,911,925) 7,725,000 10,234,937

CONSOLIDATED	STATEMENT	OF	CHANGES	IN	EQUITY
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For the period from 15 June 2007 (date of incorporation) to 30 September 2008 

Share 
capital

£

Share 
premium

£

Share based 
payment 

reserve

£

Share to 
be issued- 

Escrow 
scheme£

£

Accumulated 
loss

£

Total equity

£

As at 15 June 2007 - - - - - -

Share option granted - (62,450) 62,450 - - -

Loss for the period - - - - (99,755) (99,755)

Issue of ordinary 
shares

1,385,310 14,499,814 - - - 15,885,124

Shares to be issued 
-  Escrow scheme

- - - 7,725,000 - 7,725,000

Share issue costs - (195,618) - - - (195,618)

Cancellation of share 
option 

- 32,450 (32,450) - - -

As at 30 
September 2008

1,385,310 14,274,196 30,000 7,725,000 (99,755) 23,314,751

COMPANY	STATEMENT	OF	CHANGES	IN	EQUITY
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  Nine month  Year ended
  period ended 31 December
  30 September  2007
  2008 (pro forma)
  £  £

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit for the period before tax  3,264,995  3,079,955
Adjustments for :  
Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments  21,360 5,572
Depreciation  270,043 320,654
Interest income  (57,312) (26,790)
Interest expense  184,370 183,714
Changes in working capital:
Increase in advance payments  20,499 33,025
Increase in trade receivables  (658,738) (196,701)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories  314,436 (93,382)
Decrease in amounts due to shareholders  (3,473,464) -
Increase in trade payables  130,573 306,099
Increase in accruals other payables  343,455 10,907
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, deposits and other receivables  (91,190) 191,169
Increase in wages payable  - 3,388
Increase in current position of interest-bearing borrowings  183,159 -
Increase in amounts due from related companies - Hermes Capital  (2,216,383) -
Increase in amounts due to related company - Hermes Capital  72,444 -
Increase in amounts due to related company - Albany  222,271 -
Increase in other tax payables  64,025 -
Increase in amounts due to directors  3,163,418 -   

Cash generated from operations  1,757,961 3,817,610
Income tax paid  (393,971) (540,339)
Interest paid  (184,370) (222,875)   

Net cash generated from operating activities  1,179,620 3,054,396   

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
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  Nine month  Year ended
  period ended 31 December
  30 September  2007
  2008 (pro forma)
  £  £
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Net cash flow arising from acquisitions (See note 29)  1,973,913 -
Additions to prepaid lease payments  (438,548) -
Purchases of property, plant and equipment  (63,281) (162,742)
Interest received  57,312 25,630   

Net cash from/(used in) investing activities  1,529,396 (137,112)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Bank and other loans raised   - 2,988,142
Repayment of bank and other loans   - (3,191,958)
Dividend  (2,734,443) (1,036,350)
Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares  3,490,124 -
Share issue costs  (195,618) -   

Net cash from/(used in) financing activities  560,063 (1,240,166)   

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  3,269,079 1,677,118

Exchange gains / (losses) on cash and cash equivalents  (452,509) 308,961   

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF PERIOD 3,685,380 1,699,301   

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF PERIOD 6,501,950 3,685,380   

ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT

Cash at bank and in hand  6,501,950 3,685,380   
  6,501,950 3,685,380   

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
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For the fifteen months period ended 30 September 2008

   15 June 2007 to 
   30 September 
   2008
  Notes £

Cash flows from operating activities
Loss before taxation   (99,755)
Adjustments for :
Interest income   (140,959)   

Operating loss before changes in working capital   (240,714)

Increase in receivables   (323,577)
Increase in payables   841,198   

Net cash from operating activities   276,907

Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received   140,959
Costs on acquisition of subsidiary   (863,735)   

Net cash used in investing activities   (722,776)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of shares  31 3,490,124
Cost of issue of shares   (195,618)   

Net cash generated from financing activities   3,294,506

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents   2,848,637
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period   -   

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period   2,848,637   

COMPANY CASH FLOW STATEMENT
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1. General information and principal activities

  Ninety Plc was established to seek to acquire a controlling interest in a company located in Europe, North 
America or Asia. Following the change of name from Ninety Plc to Sorbic International Plc (“Sorbic International”) 
and the completion of the acquisition of Honour Field International Limited (“Honour Field”) and its subsidiary 
(“Honour Field Group”) on 29 September 2008, Sorbic International Plc and its subsidiaries’ (the “Group”) 
principal activities include the production and sale of food preservatives, Sorbic Acid and Potassium Sorbate. The 
Group’s main operations are in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”).

  Sorbic International Plc, a public limited company, is the Group’s ultimate parent company. It is incorporated and 
domiciled in the United Kingdom. The address of Sorbic International’s registered office is 17 Hanover Square, 
London W12 1HU. Sorbic International’s shares are listed on the AIM Market of the London Stock Exchange.

2. Significant accounting policies

 Basis of preparation

  The Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(‘IFRS’) as adopted for use by the European Union, and effective, or issued and early adopted, as at the date of 
these statements, and on the historical cost convention, unless otherwise indicated in this summary of significant 
accounting policies.

  The Group has not adopted the following standards in the preparation of the financial statements, as they are 
either not effective as at 30 June 2008 or not applicable to the Group’s business.

New/Revised International Financial Reporting 
Standards

Issued Effective Date

IFRS 1 

First-time Adoption of International Financial 
Reporting Standards
— Amendment relating to cost of an 
investment on first-time adoption

Revised May 
2008 

Annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2009.

IFRS 2 
Share-based Payment
— Amendment relating to vesting 
conditions and cancellations 

Revised 
2008 

Annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2009 

IFRS 3 
Business Combinations
— Comprehensive revision on applying the 
acquisition method 

Revised 
2008 

Annual periods beginning on or after 
1 July 2009 

IFRS 5

Non-current Assets Held for Sale and 
Discontinued Operations
— Amendments resulting from May 2008 
Annual Improvements to IFRSs 

Revised May 
2008

Annual periods beginning on or after 
1 July 2009

IFRS 8 Operating Segments
Original 
issuance 
2006

Annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2009

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

New/Revised International Financial Reporting 
Standards

Issued Effective Date

IAS 1 

Presentation of Financial Statements 
— Comprehensive revision including 
requiring a statement of comprehensive 
income 

2007 
Annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2009

IAS 1

Presentation of Financial Statements
— Amendments relating to disclosure of 
puttable instruments and obligations arising 
on liquidation 

2008 
Annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2009 

IAS 1
Presentation of Financial Statements
— Amendments resulting from May 2008 
Annual Improvements to IFRSs 

May 2008 
Annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2009

IAS 16
Property, Plant and Equipment
— Amendments resulting from May 2008 
Annual Improvements to IFRSs 

May 2008 
Annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2009

 IAS 19
Employee Benefits
— Amendments resulting from May 2008 
Annual Improvements to IFRSs 

May 2008 
Annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2009

IAS 20

Government Grants and Disclosure of 
Government Assistance
— Amendments resulting from May 2008 
Annual Improvements to IFRSs

May 2008
Annual periods beginning on or after
 1 January 2009

IAS 23
Borrowing Costs
— Comprehensive revision to prohibit 
immediate expensing 

2007
Borrowing costs relating to qualifying assets 
for which the commencement date for 
capitalisation is on or after 1 January 2009

IAS 23
Borrowing Costs
— Amendments resulting from May 2008 
Annual Improvements to IFRSs 

May 2008
Annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2009

IAS 27

Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements
— Consequential amendments arising from 
amendments to IFRS 3 

2008 
Annual periods beginning on or after 
1 July 2009

IAS 27

Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements
— Amendment relating to cost of an 
investment on first-time adoption

Revised 2008 
Annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2009.

IAS 27

Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements
— Amendments resulting from May 2008 
Annual Improvements to IFRSs 

May 2008 
Annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2009

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

New/Revised International Financial Reporting 
Standards

Issued Effective Date

IAS 28
Investments in Associates
— Consequential amendments arising from 
amendments to IFRS 3

2008
Annual periods beginning on or after 
1 July 2009

IAS 28
Investments in Associates
— Amendments resulting from May 2008 
Annual Improvements to IFRSs 

May 2008 
Annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2009

IAS 29

Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary 
Economies
— Amendments resulting from May 2008 
Annual Improvements to IFRSs

May 2008
Annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2009

IAS 31
Interests in Joint Ventures
— Consequential amendments arising from 
amendments to IFRS 3 

2008 
Annual periods beginning on or after 
1 July 2009

IAS 31
Interests in Joint Ventures
— Amendments resulting from May 2008 
Annual Improvements to IFRSs 

May 2008 
Annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2009

IAS 32

Financial Instruments: Presentation
— Amendments relating to puttable 
instruments and obligations arising on 
liquidation 

2008 
Annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2009

IAS 36
Impairment of Assets
— Amendments resulting from May 2008 
Annual Improvements to IFRSs 

May 2008 
Annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2009 

IAS 38
Intangible Assets
— Amendments resulting from May 2008 
Annual Improvements to IFRSs 

May 2008 
Annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2009 

IAS 39

Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement 
— Amendments resulting from May 2008 
Annual Improvements to IFRSs 

May 2008 
Annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2009

IAS 39
Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement 
— Amendments for eligible hedged items 

July 2008 
Annual periods beginning on or after 
1 July 2009

IAS 40
Investment Property 
— Amendments resulting from May 2008 
Annual Improvements to IFRSs 

May 2008 
Annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2009

IAS 41
Agriculture
— Amendments resulting from May 2008 
Annual Improvements to IFRSs 

May 2008 
Annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2009

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



Annual Report 2008

29

AS AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2008

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

IFRIC Interpretation Effective Date

IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes
Annual periods beginning on or after 
1 July 2008

IFRIC 15 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate 
Annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2009

IFRIC 16
Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign 
Operation 

Annual periods beginning on or after 
1 October 2008

IFRIC 17 Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners 
Annual periods beginning on or after 
1 July 2009

  The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported 
amounts of expenses during the reporting period.

  Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of the amount, event or actions, results 
ultimately may differ from those estimates.  The Directors have reviewed the accounting policies set out below 
and consider them to be the most appropriate to the Group’s business activities.

 i.  Reverse acquisition accounting

 (a) Sorbic International Plc acquisition

  In September 2008, the Company successfully completed the acquisition of Honour Field and its subsidiary for 
a total purchase consideration of up to £20,120,000, excluding expenses, as fulfilled by an immediate issuance 
of 16,526,667 new Ordinary shares of the company upon completion of the acquisition and up to a further 
10,300,000 new Ordinary shares to be issued conditional upon Honour Field meeting its profit target under a 
deferred consideration scheme known as the Escrow share scheme.

  
  Due to the relative values of the companies, the former Honour Field shareholders became majority shareholders 

with 68.15 per cent. of the enlarged ordinary share capital in Sorbic International, and hence hold the majority 
of the voting rights. Further, the executive management of the Honour Field Group became that of Sorbic 
International. A qualitative and quantitative analysis of these factors leads the Directors to conclude that in this 
transaction Honour Field has the controlling interest and should be treated as the accounting acquirer.

  In determining the appropriate accounting treatment for the reverse acquisition, the Directors have considered 
the Application Supplement to IFRS 3, Business Combinations. However, they have concluded that this transaction 
falls outside of the scope of IFRS 3, since Sorbic International, whose activities prior to the acquisition were limited 
to the management of cash resources and the maintenance of its listing, did not constitute a business. It has 
therefore been determined that the transaction should be accounted for in a manner that is similar to the reverse 
accounting as described in IFRS 3, but without recognising goodwill.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTSNOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2.  Significant accounting policies (continued)

  In accordance with IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors, in developing an 
appropriate accounting policy the Directors have considered the pronouncements of other standard-setting bodies 
and specifically looked to accounting  principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“US GAAP”) 
for guidance (FAS 141, Business Combinations) as well as SEC rules. Under US GAAP, in a reverse acquisition, the 
target company (Honour Field) is treated as the acquiring company for financial reporting purposes (no purchase 
accounting adjustments) and the fair value of the issuing company’s common shares (Sorbic International) is 
recognised, together with adjustments necessary to reflect the net tangible and identifiable intangible assets at their 
fair value with any remainder assigned to goodwill (full application of purchase accounting).

  Under US GAAP, such a transaction is treated as an equity issuance by the operating entity (in this case Honour 
Field). As a result, the cost of the combination is deemed to equal the net monetary assets of the acquiree (Sorbic 
International) plus transaction costs. Only costs incurred by the “target” company can be capitalised.

 (b) Honour Field International Limited acquisition

  In April 2008, Honour Field successfully completed the acquisition of Linyi Van Science and Technique Company 
Limited (“LVST”) for a total purchase consideration of £3,624,495.

  A qualitative and quantitative analysis of these factors leads the Directors to conclude that in this transaction LVST 
should be treated as the accounting acquirer as the executive management of LVST became that of Honour Field 
as well as the agreement between management and acquiring shareholders.

  In determining the appropriate accounting treatment for the reverse acquisition, the Directors have considered 
the Application Supplement to IFRS 3, Business Combinations. However, they have concluded that this transaction 
falls outside of the scope of IFRS 3, since Honour Field, whose activities prior to the acquisition were limited to 
the management of cash, did not constitute a business. It has therefore been determined that the transaction 
should be accounted for in a manner that is similar to the reverse accounting as described in IFRS 3, but without 
recognising goodwill.

  In accordance with IAS 8 Accounting Policies, changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors, in developing an 
appropriate accounting policy the Directors have considered the pronouncements of other standard-setting bodies 
and specifically looked to accounting  principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“US GAAP”) 
for guidance (FAS 141, Business Combinations) and the SEC rules. Under US GAAP, in a reverse acquisition, 
the target company (LVST) is treated as the acquiring company for financial reporting purposes (no purchase 
accounting adjustments) and the fair value of the issuing company’s common shares (Honour Field) is recognised, 
together with adjustments necessary to reflect the net tangible and identifiable intangible assets at their fair value 
with any remainder assigned to goodwill (full application of purchase accounting).

  Under US GAAP such a transaction is treated as an equity issuance by the operating entity (in this case Honour 
Field).  As a result, the cost of the combination is deemed to equal the net monetary assets of the acquiree 
(Honour Field) plus transaction costs. Only costs incurred by the “target” company can be capitalised.

  As a consequence of applying the reverse acquisition accounting policy described, the current period figures 
shown consist of the results of Honour Field and its subsidiaries for the entire nine month period and incorporate 
those of Sorbic International from 29 September 2008 to 30 September 2008. The comparative information 
presented comprises the consolidated results and balance sheet of the Honour Field Group for the year ended 31 
December 2007.

 Further information in respect of the acquisition is disclosed in note 29.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2.  Significant accounting policies (continued)

 ii. Subsidiary undertakings

 As at 30 September 2008, the Company had the following subsidiaries:

Name of Subsidiary Date of Percentage Principal
 establishment  of equity activities
  attributable 
  to Sorbic 
  International 

Honour Field International Limited 3 July 2007 100% Holding Company

Held by Honour Field
Linyi Van Science and Technique Co., Ltd 17 July 2001 100% Production and sale
   of food preservatives

 iii. Investment

 Investment in subsidiary company is stated at cost, less provision for diminution in carrying value.

 iv. Income tax

  Significant judgement is required in determining the deductibility of certain expenses during the estimation of the 
provision of income taxes.  There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination 
is uncertain during the ordinary course of business.  The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax issues 
based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due.  Where the final tax outcome of these matters is 
different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred 
income tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

 v. Inventories

  The Group reviews an ageing analysis at each balance sheet date and makes allowances for obsolete and slow-
moving inventory items identified that are no longer suitable for use in production.  The management estimates 
the net realisable value for such finished goods and work in progress based primarily on the latest invoice prices 
and current market conditions.  The Group carries out an inventory review on a product-by-product basis at each 
balance sheet date and makes allowance for obsolete items.

 vi. Foreign currency translation

 (i) Functional and presentation currency

  Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group entities are measured using the currency of the 
primary	 economic	 environment	 in	which	 the	 entity	 operates	 (the	“functional	 currency”);	 i.e.	 LVST’s	 functional	
currency is RMB.  The Financial Information is presented in Sterling, which is Sorbic International’s functional and 
presentational currency.
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2.  Significant accounting policies (continued)

 vi. Foreign currency translation (continued) 

 (ii) Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial statements
 
  Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing on 

the transaction dates.  Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated at the rates ruling on the 
balance sheet date.  Profits and losses resulting from this translation policy are included in the income statement.

 vii. Property, plant and equipment

  Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

  Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only 
when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost 
of the item can be measured reliably.  All other repairs and maintenance are expensed in the income statement 
during the period in which they are incurred.

  Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated at rates sufficient to write off their cost less their 
residual values over the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis.  The estimated useful lives of property, plant 
and equipment are as follows:

  Useful economic
  life (years)

Buildings  20
Plant and machinery  12
Office equipment and fixtures  5
Motor vehicles  5

  The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance 
sheet date.

  Construction in progress represents buildings under construction and plant and machinery pending installation, and 
is stated at cost less impairment losses.  Depreciation begins when the relevant assets are available for use.

  The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment is the difference between the net sales proceeds 
and the carrying amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in the income statement.

 viii. Land use rights

  Land use rights are capitalised and stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. 
Amortisation is provided on a straight line basis over the term of the rights.

 ix. Construction in progress

  Construction in progress represents buildings under construction and plant and machinery pending installation, and 
is stated at cost less impairment losses.  Depreciation begins when the relevant assets are available for use.
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2.  Significant accounting policies (continued)

 x. Impairment of assets

  At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible assets, inventories and 
receivables to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss.  If any 
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of any 
impairment loss.  Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group 
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

 Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use.  In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the 
carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss 
is recognised immediately in the income statement, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in 
which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.    

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is 
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of amortisation or depreciation) had no 
impairment loss been recognised for the asset or cash-generating unit in prior years.  A reversal of an impairment 
loss is recognised immediately in the income statement, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, 
in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

 xi. Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  Cost is determined using the weighted average 
basis.  The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises raw materials, direct labour and an appropriate 
proportion of all production overhead expenditure, and where appropriate, subcontracting charges.  Net realisable 
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and 
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

 xii. Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis where the purchase 
or sale of the instrument is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the investment within the timeframe 
established by the market concerned, and are initially measured at fair value, plus directly attributable transaction 
costs except in the case of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

 xiii. Trade and other receivables 

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method, less allowance for impairment.  An allowance for impairment of trade and 
other receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all 
amounts due according to the original terms of trade.  The amount of the allowance is the difference between 
the receivables’ carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the effective 
interest rate computed at initial recognition.  The amount of the allowance is recognised in the income statement.  
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2.  Significant accounting policies (continued)

 xiii. Trade and other receivables (continued)

Impairment losses are reversed in subsequent periods and recognised in the income statement when an increase 
in the receivables’ recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was 
recognised, subject to the restriction that the carrying amount of the receivables at the date the impairment is 
reversed shall not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

 xiv. Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents represent cash at bank and on hand, 
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and short-term highly liquid investments which are 
readily convertible into known amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.  Bank 
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management are also 
included as a component of cash and cash equivalents.

 xv. Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements 
entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument under IFRS.  An equity instrument 
is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities.  The 
accounting policies adopted for specific financial liabilities and equity instruments are set out below.

 xvi. Share-based payments

All share-based payment arrangements are recognised in the consolidated financial statements in the period 
in which the associated goods or services are provided.  The Group operates equity-settled share-based 
remuneration plans for remuneration of its employees, although to-date no options have been granted under 
these plans.

All goods and services received in exchange for the grant of any share-based payment are measured at their fair 
values at the date the services are provided.

All equity-settled share based payments are recognised as an expense with a corresponding credit to “Share based 
payment reserve”.  Where the cost relates to the issue of shares, the cost has been off-set against share premium.

Upon exercise of the share options, the proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction costs up 
to the nominal value of the shares issued are allocated to share capital with any excess being recorded as share 
premium.

 xvii. Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of 
the liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



Annual Report 2008

35

AS AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2008

2.  Significant accounting policies (continued)

 xviii. Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are stated initially at their fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at 
cost.

 xix. Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Group are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

 xx. Deferred consideration

In accordance with IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation, deferred consideration is considered 
to be an equity instrument if it is defined as a set number of shares.  If the deferred consideration is defined as a 
set value, then the deferred consideration is considered to be a liability.

 xxi. Employee benefits

Honour Field, based in Singapore, makes contributions to the Central Provident Fund scheme in Singapore, a 
defined contribution pension scheme.  

The Group’s Chinese subsidiary follows the rules and regulations stipulated by the PRC, including:

 (i) Pension obligations

  The Group’s Chinese subsidiary contributes to defined contribution retirement schemes which are available 
to all employees.  Contributions to the schemes by LVST and employees are calculated as a percentage of 
employees’ basic salaries.  The retirement benefit scheme cost charged to the income statement represents 
contributions payable by LVST to the scheme.

(ii) Termination benefits

   Termination benefits are recognised when, and only when, the Group demonstrably commits itself to 
terminate employment or to provide benefits as a result of voluntary redundancy by having a detailed 
formal plan which is without realistic possibility of withdrawal.

 xxii. Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in the income statement in the period in which they are incurred.

 xxiii. Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the period.  Taxable profit differs from profit as reported 
in the income statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other 
periods and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is 
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.
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2.  Significant accounting policies (continued)

 xxiii. Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial 
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using 
the balance sheet liability method.  Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary 
differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be 
available against which deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses or unused tax credits can be utilised.  
Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial 
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither 
the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and 
associates, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable 
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent 
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be 
recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or 
the asset is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.  
Deferred tax is charged or credited to the income statement, except when it relates to items charged or credited 
directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the 
Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

 xxiv. Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when the Group has a present legal or 
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.  Where the time value of money is material, 
provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be 
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow is remote.  
Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more 
future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.

 Key assumptions and sources of estimation

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.  The resulting accounting estimates will, by 
definition, seldom equal the related actual results.  The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of 
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are 
discussed below:
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2.  Significant accounting policies (continued)

 Key assumptions and sources of estimation (continued)

 Revenue recognition  

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and is recognised when it is 
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably. 

Revenue from the sales of manufactured goods and trading of raw materials are recognised on the transfer of 
significant risks and rewards of ownership, which generally coincides with the time when the goods are delivered 
and the title has passed to the customer.  

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method.

3. Financial risk management objective and policies

The main areas of financial risks faced by the Group are foreign exchange risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and fair 
values.  The overall financial risk management objective is to ensure that the Group enhances shareholders’ value.  
The Group establishes and operates within financial risk management policies approved by the Board of Directors 
to ensure that adequate financial resources are available for the development of the Group’s businesses whilst 
managing these risks.  Financial risk management is carried out through risk reviews, internal control systems and 
adherence to the Group’s financial risk management policies.

(a) Foreign exchange risk

  The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk in sales which are mainly carried out in Renminbi (‘RMB’) 
and United States Dollar (‘US$’).  The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. 

(b) Credit risk

  The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk.  It has policies in place to ensure that sales are 
only made to customers with an appropriate credit history.

(c) Liquidity risk

  The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it 
maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

  As the Group has no significant interest-bearing assets, its income and operating cash flows are substantially 
independent of changes in market interest rates.

(d) Fair values

  The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities as reflected in the financial 
statements approximate to their respective fair values.
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4. Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern 
in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital 
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The capital structure of the Group consists of bank and other borrowings, trade and others payable and equity 
attributable to equity holders of the Company, comprising issued share capital and reserves.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to 
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio and also debts 
to equity ratio. 

The gearing ratio is defined and calculated by the group as a total of interest-bearing borrowings to the owner’s 
equity. Total equity includes mainly equity attributable to equity holders of the company. 

The Group’s policy is to maintain the gearing ratio at a moderate level which stands at 20.49% at 30 September 
2008 compared to 43.53% at 31 December 2007.

The gearing ratios as at the balance sheet dates were as follows:-

  Group Group
  As at As at
  30 September 2008 31 December 2007

Debts
Bank Borrowings  2,096,952 1,913,793   

  2,096,952 1,913,793   

Equity
Capital and reserves attributable to equity holders 
of the company   10,234,937 4,396,220   

   10,234,937 4,396,220   

Gearing Ratio  20.49% 43.53%   

The Debt to Equity rat io is def ined and calculated by the Group as total debt (total l iabil i t ies) 
to the owner ’s equity, at 30 September was 67.5% compared to 139.1% at 31 December 2007.
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4. Capital risk management (continued)

  Group  Group
  As at As at
  30 September 2008 31 December 2007

Total Debts  6,905,193 6,114,362   

  6,905,193 6,114,362     

Capital and reserves attributable to equity holders 
of the company   10,234,937 4,396,220   

   10,234,937 4,396,220   
Debt to Equity Ratio  67.5% 139.1%    

5. Turnover

Turnover represents the invoiced value of goods, net of discounts and returns.

An analysis of the Group’s turnover is as follows:

  Nine month period ended Year ended
  30 September 31 December
  2008 2007
  £ £

Sale of Sorbic Acid  4,716,339 4,776,320
Sale of Potassium Sorbate  6,944,916 6,877,608   

  11,661,255 11,653,928     

6.  Segmental information

The primary segment reporting format is determined to be business segments as the Group’s risks and rates of 
return are affected predominantly by differences in the products and services produced. Secondary information is 
reported geographically. 

In determining the Group’s geographical segments, segment revenue is based on the geographical location of the 
customers. 

 Business segments

The Group’s operating businesses are structured and managed separately, according to the nature of their 
operations and the products and services they provide. Each of the Group’s business segments represents a 
strategic business unit that offers products and services which are subject to risks and returns that are different 
from those of other business segments.

Currently, the Group derives its revenue from its subsidiary company through the manufacture and sale of food 
preservatives. 
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6. Segmental information (continued)

 Sorbic Acid Potassium Sorbate Consolidated Results
 Nine month  Year Nine month Year Nine month Year
 period ended  ended 31 period ended ended 31 period ended ended 31
 30 September  December 30 September December 30 September December
 2008 2007 2008  2007 2008 2007
Segment revenue £ £ £ £ £ £

Sales to external customers 4,716,339  4,776,320  6,944,916  6,877,608  11,661,255  11,653,928       
Segment results  1,773,320  1,422,035  2,599,572  2,370,213  4,372,892  3,792,248       

Unallocated expenses      (980,839) (515,048)      
Profit from operations      3,392,053  3,277,200

Finance income     57,312  25,630 
Finance costs      (184,370) (222,875)      
Profit before taxation      3,264,995  3,079,955 
   
Taxation     (465,414) (514,609)      
Profit after taxation      2,799,581  2,565,346       

Assets and liabilities:
Segment assets 566,515 555,221 472,870 590,105 1,039,385 1,145,326
Unallocated assets     16,100,745 9,365,256      
Total assets     17,140,130 10,510,582      

Segment liabilities - - - - - -
Unallocated liabilities     (6,905,193) (6,114,362)      
Total liabilities     (6,905,193) (6,114,362)      

Other segment information:
Capital expenditure for plant, 
  property and equipment     63,281 162,741      
Depreciation and amortisation 119,451 136,928 171,952 189,298 291,403 326,226      
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6. Segmental information (continued)

Segment results, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can 
be allocated on a reasonable basis. Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the period to 
acquire segment assets that are expected to be used for more than one period. Unallocated items comprise 
mainly corporate assets and liabilities, and corporate income and expenses.

Revenue for all periods presented was to external customers based in the PRC and overseas.  The Company’s 
operations are based in the PRC.

 During the period under review turnover was generated from customers in the following territories:

  Nine month period ended Year ended
  30 September 31 December
  2008 2007
  £ £

PRC  6,119,085 6,089,813
United States  2,729,214 2,698,859
Russia  1,262,721 1,417,784
Netherlands  914,743 987,693
Others  635,492 459,779   

  11,661,255 11,653,928   

The Directors consider that assets and capital expenditure cannot be allocated to specific geographic segments.

7. Finance income

Finance income and costs included are all interest related income and expenses. The following amounts have been 
included in the income statement line for the reporting periods presented:

  Nine month period ended Year ended
  30 September 31 December
  2008 2007
  £ £

Interest income  57,312 25,630   
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8. Finance costs
 
  Nine month period ended Year ended
  30 September 31 December
  2008 2007
  £ £

Interest on shareholders’ loan  - 47,909
Interest on bank loans and borrowings  184,370 174,966   

  184,370 222,875   

9. Staff costs

  Nine month period ended Year ended
  30 September 31 December
  2008 2007
  £ £

Directors’ remuneration:
Fees as directors  2,615 17,371
For management  21,709 29,820
Other emoluments  96 13,815
Pension costs  159 1,405   

  24,579 62,411   

Staff costs, including directors’ remuneration:

  Nine month period ended Year ended
  30 September 31 December
  2008 2007
  £ £

Wages and salaries  235,246 277,532
Social security costs  19,531 19,884
Pension costs  32,460 32,780   

  287,237 330,196   
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9. Staff costs (continued)

Average number of persons employed by the Company, including directors:

  Nine month period ended Year ended
  30 September 31 December
  2008 2007
  No. No.

Management  17 15
Sales  8 8
Production and administration  244 241   

  269 264   

10. Income tax expense
  Nine month period ended Year ended
  30 September 31 December
  2008 2007
  £ £

Current tax  465,414 514,609
Deferred tax  - -   

  465,414 514,609   

Profit before tax  3,264,995 3,079,955   

Tax	on	profit	at	standard	rate	(25%;	2007:	33%)*	 	 816,249	 1,016,385
Non-deductible expenditure  - 6,416
Tax effect of exempt income  (350,835) (508,192)   

    
Current tax expense recognised in income statement  465,414 514,609   

Effective tax rate  14.3% 16.7%   

* Sorbic International Plc is subject to a United Kingdom Tax rate of 28% from 31 April 2008.  No tax provision is 
provided at the Sorbic International level as all current revenues are foreign derived income.

Honour Field International Limited is a BVI registered company and therefore has tax exempt status.

LVST is subject to a PRC Enterprise Income Tax rate of 25% (2007: 33%).

The tax charge on profits assessable has been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in China in which the Group 
through its China subsidiary operates, based on existing legislation, interpretation and practices in respect thereof.
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10. Income tax expense (continued)

The Group’s subsidiary, LVST has had the benefit of a tax holiday from 2004 in which it is entitled to be exempt  
from the Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) for two years starting from the first profit making year followed by a 50% 
tax relief for the next three years. 

There was no material un-provided deferred tax as at each of the period ends.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss carried forward to the extent that the realisation of the 
related tax benefit through the future taxable profits is probable.  The Group did not recognise deferred income 
tax assets of £27,931 (2007: £nil) in respect of losses amounting to £99,755 (2007: £nil) that can be carried 
forward against future taxable income.  

11. Profit for the period

The Group’s profit for the period is stated after charging the following:

  Nine month period ended Year ended
  30 September 31 December
  2008 2007
  £ $

Depreciation  270,043 320,654
Directors’ emoluments
- As directors  2,615 17,371
- For management  21,709 29,820
Cost of inventories sold   228,878 (104,043)
Exchange losses  446,011 55,970
Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments  21,360 5,572
Auditors’ remuneration:
Payable to the current auditors 
-audit of the consolidated financial statements  40,000 -
Staff costs: 
- Salaries, bonus and allowances  254,777 297,415
- Retirement benefits scheme contributions  32,460 32,780   

During the financial period, Mazars LLP was appointed to provide due diligence services for the reverse acquisition 
exercise of the Honour Field group for a total service fee of £159,844. Part of the professional fee expense 
incurred was written off against the share premium account (£1,885) and the balance (£157,959) was taken to 
the reverse acquisition reserve.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



Annual Report 2008

45

AS AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2008

12. Earning per share and dividends

 Basic
  2008 2007
  £ £

Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company  2,799,581 2,565,346
Weighted average number of Ordinary shares in issue (number) 16,550,614 16,526,666

Basic earnings per share  0.17 0.16   

 Diluted

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 
to assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.  The Company has one category of dilutive 
potential ordinary shares: share options.  For the share options, a calculation is done to determine the number of 
shares that could have been acquired at fair value (determined as the average annual market share price of the 
Company’s shares) based on the monetary value of the subscription rights attached to outstanding share options.  
The number of shares calculated as above is compared with the number of shares that would have been issued 
assuming the exercise of the share options.

 
  2008 2007
  £ £
   

Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company  2,799,581 2,565,346
Weighted average number of Ordinary shares in issue (number) 16,550,614 16,526,666
Adjustments for :
Share options  2,190 -   
  16,552,804 16,526,666

Diluted earnings per share  0.17 0.16   

13. Retirement benefit schemes

The Group’s Chinese subsidiary, LVST, is required to participate in the employee pension schemes operated by the 
relevant local government authorities in the PRC. The PRC government is responsible for the pension liabilities to 
the employee pension scheme. LVST is required to make contributions for those employees who are registered 
as permanent residents in the PRC and are within the scope of the relevant PRC regulations at rates ranging from 
19% to 20% of the employees’ salaries for each of the three years ended 31 December 2007 and the nine month 
period ended 30 September 2008.  The pension cost for the period is £32,460 (year ended 31 December 2007: 
£32,780).
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14. Property, plant and equipment

  Plant Office
  and equipment Motor Construction
 Buildings machinery and vehicles in progress
   fixtures
      Total
 £ £ £ £ £ £
Cost 

At 1 January 2007 1,474,683  2,968,813 11,825 26,013 -  4,481,334      

Additions -  25,909 31,332 - 105,500 162,741      

Exchange differences 83,562 168,226 670 1,474 - 253,932
At 31 December 2007 1,558,245  3,162,948 43,827 27,487  105,500  4,898,007      

Additions -  - - - 24,816 24,816

Exchange differences 307,409  623,982 8,646 5,423 20,813 966,273      
At 30 September 2008 1,865,654  3,786,930 52,473 32,910 151,129  5,889,096

Accumulated depreciation
As at 1 January 2007 220,229 627,229 5,643 15,034 - 868,135

Charge for the year 71,234 237,546 6,911 4,963 - 320,654
Exchange differences 3,562 11,877 346  248 - 16,033      

As at 31 December 2007 295,025 876,652 12,900 20,245 - 1,204,822

Charge for the period 59,817 200,416 6,399 3,411 - 270,043
Exchange differences 65,548 197,558 3,331 4,413 - 270,850      

At 30 September 2008 420,390 1,274,626 22,630 28,069 - 1,745,715      

Carrying amount
At 30 September 2008 1,445,264 2,512,304 29,843 4,841 151,129 4,143,381      

At 31 December 2007 1,263,220 2,286,296 30,927 7,242 105,500 3,693,185      

As at 30 September 2008, certain building and equipment of LVST were pledged as security for bank loans as 
disclosed in note 23 below. The aggregate carrying value of the pledged buildings and equipment attributable to 
LVST as at 30 September 2008 amounted to £3,679,402 (2007: £3,182,710).
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15. Land use rights 
  As at As at
  30 September 31 December
  2008 2007
  £ £

At beginning of period  1,307,173 270,090
Additions  - 1,042,933
Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments  (21,360) (5,572)
Exchange differences  255,254 (278)   

At end of period  1,541,067 1,307,173   

The Group’s prepaid land lease payments represent payments for land use rights situated in the PRC under 
medium term leases.

As at 30 September 2008, the Group’s subsidiary had paid £438,548 for the land right usage and is expected to 
receive the land right usage certificate by end of December 2008.

As at 30 September 2008, certain land lease prepayments of the Group were pledged as security for bank loans 
as disclosed in note 23 below. The aggregate carrying value of the pledged land lease prepayments attributable to 
LVST as at 30 September 2008 amounted to £311,115 (2007: £264,240).

16. Prepayments (non-current assets)

Group  As at As at
  30 September 31 December
  2008 2007
  £ £

Motor vehicles  38,465 -
Land use rights  438,548 -   

  477,013 -   

17. Inventories

Group  As at As at
  30 September 31 December
  2008 2007
  £ £

Raw materials  264,262 388,892
Consumables  18,882 11,876
Finished goods  108,214 305,026   

  391,358 705,794   
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18. Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are unsecured and non-interest bearing and are generally on 2 months’ terms. They are 
recognised at their original invoice amounts which represent their fair values on initial recognition less provision for 
impairment where it is required. 

Trade receivables that are less than three months past due are not considered impaired.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables past due but not impaired are set out below.  These relate to a number of 
independent customers for whom there is no recent history of default.

  30 September 31 December
  2008 2007
  £ £
  

Up to 3 months  1,774,080 1,115,342
3 – 6 months  - -   

  1,774,080 1,115,342   

Trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are considered to be fully recoverable.  There are no 
concentrations of credit risk for the Group. 

19. Other receivables

Group  As at As at
  30 September 31 December
  2008 2007
  £ £

Prepayments  4,168 -
Other receivables  90,730 3,708   

  94,898 3,708   

Company As at 30 
 September 2008
   £
Other receivables    319,409
Prepayments   4,168   
   323,577   
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20.  Related party transactions

Group

Hermes Financial Group (BVI) Ltd (“Hermes Financial”) is a shareholder of the Company and its beneficial owner 
is Ray Ang Wee Boon. As at 30 September 2008, the following balance is outstanding:

  As at As at
  30 September 31 December
  2008 2007
  £ £

Amount due from related company – Hermes Financial  2,216,383 -
   

This amount due from Hermes Financial comprises a fund held in trust of £2 million and a convertible bond not 
fully paid up of £216,383. 

Hermes Capital Ltd (“Hermes Capital”) is a related company as Mr. Ray Ang Wee Boon is a common director in 
Hermes Capital Ltd and Sorbic International Plc. He is also a director of Prime Mega and Hermes Financial.

Albany Capital Plc (“Albany Capital”) is a shareholder of the Company and is providing administrative services and 
acted as advisor to the Company in the Reverse Take Over corporate exercise. 

As at 30 September 2008, the balance shown as amount to related company – Hermes Capital was related to the 
provision of advisory and consultancy service to Honour Field International for the reverse acquisition exercise.   

  As at As at
  30 September 31 December
  2008 2007
  £ £

Amount due to related company – Hermes Capital  72,444 -
Amount due to related company – Albany Capital  222,271 -

   

Total amount due to related parties  294,715 -
   

Mr Ray Ang Wee Boon, being the 100% ultimate shareholder of Prime Mega International Ltd entered into a Sales 
and Purchase Agreement with Ninety Plc (now known as Sorbic International Plc or the Company) on 4 September 
2008 to sell 100% of Honour Field International Ltd to Ninety Plc for a consideration of £15.12 million.

Mr Wang Yan Ting, being the previous 100% shareholder of LVST entered into a Sales and Purchase Agreement 
with Honour Field International Ltd on 21 April 2008 to sell 100% of LVST to Honour Field International Ltd for a 
consideration of RMB48 million.

Company   As at
   30 September 2008

   £

Amount due to related company – Albany Capital   222,271   
    222,271    
Fees paid to Albany Capital for advisory work and time costs  217,375   

 Albany Capital is a shareholder of the Company.  The balances are unsecured.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



Sorbic International Plc

50

AS AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2008

20.  Related party transactions (continued)

 Key management personnel

 Number of  As at As at
 Directors/key  30 September 31 December
 management 2008 2007
  £ £

Directors remuneration  
  Wages and emoluments 1 24,579 62,411
Key management   
  Wages and emoluments 1 1,746 1,780   
   
 2 26,325 64,191

 Others

An Yu, a director of Hermes Financial Group (BVI) Limited entered into a loan agreement with LVST on 22 
September 2008 to lend to LVST a sum of up to RMB48,000,000 for 12 months beginning 1 October 2008 and 
maturing 30 September 2009 at an interest of 9% per annum.  To date, no loans have been drawn down from An 
Yu.

21.  Cash and cash equivalents

Group  As at As at
  30 September 31 December
  2008 2007
  £ £

Cash and cash equivalents  6,501,950 3,685,380   

The cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the following currencies:

  As at As at
  30 September 31 December
  2008 2007
  £ £

RMB  3,652,189 3,685,380
GBP  2,849,396 -
USD  82 -
HKD  283 -   

  6,501,950 3,685,380   
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21.  Cash and cash equivalents (continued)

The conversion of RMB denominated cash and bank balances into foreign currencies and the remittance of these 
funds out of the PRC are subject to the rules and regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated by the 
PRC government. 

Company   As at
   30 September
   2008
   £

Bank and cash balances   2,848,637   
   2,848,637   

22. Amounts due to shareholders

The amounts due these directors/shareholders bear interest at the rate from 4.65% to 6.26% per annum and have 
been fully repaid.

Group  As at As at
  30 September 31 December
  2008 2007
  £ £

Director/Shareholder loans:
Wang Yan Ting**  3,163,418 362,121
Zheng Zhi Hao  - 376,900   
   
  3,163,418 739,021   

Dividend payable to shareholders  As at As at
  30 September 31 December
  2008 2007
  £ £

Dividend  - 2,734,443   

  - 2,734,443   

Total amount due to directors/shareholders  3,163,418 3,473,464   

**As at 30 September 2008, the reported amount of shareholder loans of £3,163,418 (2007: £nil) represents the 
outstanding purchase consideration due to Mr Wang Yan Ting, a director of the company, for the acquisition of 
LVST by Honour Field International.
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23. Interest-bearing borrowings

Group  As at As at
  30 September 31 December
  2008 2007
  £ £

Bank loans  2,096,952  1,913,793   

The borrowings are repayable as follows:
On demand or within one year  2,096,952 1,913,793   

 

As at 30 September 2008, bank loans of £1,716,440 (2007: £1,910,832) were secured by pledges of certain 
buildings and equipment, bank deposits and land lease prepayments.

As at 30 September 2008, a bank loan of £380,512 (2007: £317,814) was jointly guaranteed by two related 
companies, namely: Shan Dong Chao Yue Dian Li She Bei Company Limited and Lin Yi Shi Hua Sheng Mai Yi 
Company Limited a company to which Wang Yan Ting is the legal representative. 

The average annual interest rates paid were as follows:

  As at  As at
  30 September 31 December
  2008 2007
  £ £

Bank loans  10.70% 7.51%   
 

Due to the short term nature of the borrowings, the fair values approximate their carrying values.

24. Share capital

   As at
   30 September
   2008
Authorised   £
 
100,000,000 Ordinary share of £0.06 each   6,000,000   
 

Issued, called up and fully paid   £
 

23,088,500 Ordinary shares of £0.06 each   1,385,310   
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24. Share capital (continued)

The movement on the share premium account was as follows:

   Share Premium
   £

At incorporation   -
Issue of shares on 24 October 2007 for a consideration of £0.01 per share  2,875,500
Issue of shares on 29 September 2008 for a consideration of £0.75 per share  11,624,314
Share issue costs   (195,618)
Transfer to share-based payment reserve   (30,000)   
At 30 September 2008   14,274,196   

The Company was incorporated on 15 June 2007 with an authorised share capital of £50,000 divided into 
5,000,000 ordinary shares of £0.01 each.

Following written resolutions dated 26 July 2007, the authorised share capital of the Company was increased to 
£500,000 and sub-divided so that the authorised share capital was 500,000,000 ordinary shares of £0.001 each.

On incorporation, the Company allotted and issued 20 ordinary shares of 0.1p each at par.

On 26 July 2007, the Company allotted and issued 55,000,000 ordinary shares of £0.001 each for a total cash 
consideration of £55,000.

On 24 October 2007, the Company allotted and issued 319,500,000 ordinary shares of £0.001 each for a total 
cash consideration after expenses of £3,195,000.

On 29 September 2008, following written resolutions, the authorised share capital of the Company was decreased 
to £6,000,000 and a 1 for 60 consolidation took place so that the authorised share capital was 100,000,000 
Ordinary shares of £0.06 each.

On 29 September 2008, the Company allotted and issued 320,166 Ordinary shares for a cash consideration of 
£0.75 each, giving rise to an increased share capital of £19,210 and an increased share premium of £220,915.

On 29 September 2008, the Company allotted and issued 16,526,667 Ordinary shares for a consideration of 
£0.75 each, giving rise to an increased share capital of £991,600 and an increased share premium of £11,403,400.  
These shares were issued as consideration for the acquisition of the Honour Field Group.

The share option cost has been deducted from the share premium since the cost relates to professional services 
in relation to the issue of shares.

25. Reserves 

 (i) Capital reserve

   The capital reserve comprises the surplus between the fair value of the net assets and the nominal value of 
shares issued when LVST was converted/acquired from a state-owned enterprise to a limited company.
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25. Reserves  (continued)

  The capital reserve can only be used for conversion into share capital.

 (ii) Surplus reserve

   In accordance with the relevant PRC laws and regulations, PRC domestic companies are required to 
transfer 10% of their profit after income tax, as determined in accordance with PRC GAAP, to the statutory 
reserves, until the balance of the reserve reaches 50% of the registered capital of that company. Subject to 
certain restrictions as set out in the relevant PRC regulations, the statutory reserve may be used to offset 
against accumulated losses, if any. 

   Domestic PRC companies are also required to transfer 5% to 10% of net profit, as determined under 
PRC accounting regulations, to the statutory common welfare fund. This fund can only be used to provide 
staff welfare facilities and other collective benefits to the employees of that company. This fund is non-
distributable other than in the event of liquidation. 

(iii) Share based payment reserve

   Share based payment reserve represents equity-settled share-based payments until such share options are 
exercised.

	 The	movement	of	the	Share	based	payment	reserve	is	as	follows;

  During the period, the Company entered into two share option agreements with the Hermes Capital and 
Finn Capital as settlement of the professional advisory service in relation to the RTO exercise. The fair 
value of the two share-based payments is as follows:

   As at 
   30 September 
   2008
   £

Share option granted to Hermes Capital for subscription of 
  400,000 new ordinary shares   20,000
Share option granted to Finn Cap for subscription of 200,000
  new ordinary shares   10,000   

   30,000   

 These fair values are based on the market value of the services provided for the professional advice.

  The Company granted Hermes Capital and Finn Capital a warrant to subscribe for 400,000 and 200,000 
new ordinary shares of the company, respectively, at a subscription price of £0.75 per share. The warrant 
may be exercised at any time during the period of five years from 29 September 2008 onwards. As at 30 
September 2008 the warrant remained unexercised. 
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25. Reserves  (continued)

 (iv) Shares to be issued under Escrow scheme
 
  As at 30 As at 31 
  September December
  2008 2007
  £ £

 10,300,000 shares to be issued at 75p  7,725,000 -   
  7,725,000 -   

  The above shares would be issued to Prime Mega upon LVST achieving a profit target as stipulated in the 
business transfer agreement.

 (iv) Reverse acquisition reserve

   The reverse acquisition reserve arises as a result of following the accounting method described in note 2 
(i) (a) in respect of the reverse acquisition.

26. Capital commitments 

 The Group’s capital commitments at the balance sheet date are as follows:

  As at As at
  30 September 31 December
  2008 2007
  £ £

Contracted but not provided for
- construction in progress
  48,582 61,303   
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27. Financial instruments

 Categories of financial instruments

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as at the balance sheet date are as follows:

 Summary of financial assets and liabilities by category
 

Group  As at 30 As at 31
  September December
  2008 2007
  £ £
Trade and other receivables:
 - Loans and receivables  4,085,361 1,119,050
Cash and cash equivalent:
 - Loans and receivables  6,501,950 3,685,380   
  10,587,311 4,804,430   
Borrowings:
 - Financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost  2,096,952 1,913,793
Trade and other payables, amount due to related parties and shareholders
 - Financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost   4,492,805 4,013,608   
  6,589,757 5,927,401   

** The above table excludes current tax payables. 

Company As at 30 September 2008
Current assets
Trade and other receivables, VAT recoverable: 
- Loans and receivables   323,577
Cash and cash equivalents: 
- Loans and receivables   2,848,637   
   3,172,214   
Current liabilities 
Trade and other payables, amount due to related parties and shareholders:
- Financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost   841,198   
   841,198   

 Risk management objectives and policies

The Group is exposed to market risk through its use of financial instruments and specifically to currency risk, 
interest rate risk and certain other price risks, which result from both its operating and investing activities. The 
Group’s risk management is coordinated at its headquarters, in close co-operation with the Board of directors, 
and focuses on actively securing the Group’s short to medium term cash flows by minimising the exposure to 
financial markets.

The Group does not engage in the trading of financial assets for speculative purposes nor does it write options. 
The most significant financial risks to which the Group is exposed are described as below.
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27. Financial instruments (continued)

 Market risk

 Currency risk

The Group’s ultimate holding company is located in United Kingdom and its monetary assets, liabilities and 
transactions are principally denominated in the functional currency of respective group entities, which are mainly 
British Pound (“GBP”). However, most of the transactions of the Group are carried out in the PRC – where its 
subsidiary LVST operates. The Group’s sales transactions are transacted either in Renminbi (“RMB”) and US Dollar 
(‘USD”) whereas all related purchases and loan borrowings transactions are therefore denominated in Renminbi 
(“RMB”). The amount to be paid and received in RMB are expected to largely offset one another, no hedging 
activity is undertaken. For the financial period, the Group’s expenses incurred were in a combination of GBP, RMB 
and Hong Kong Dollar (“HKD”).  Moving ahead, the Group expects HKD transactions to be minimal and replaced 
by SGD transactions.
 

 Foreign currency sensitivity
Facing the continuous appreciation of RMB against GBP and USD, the Group is facing the following foreign 
currency translation exposure:-

Group As at 30 As at 31
  September 2008 December 2007
 £ £
Nominal amounts RMB HKD USD RMB HKD USD
Financial assets
-trade receivables 645,194 - 888,761 627,228 - 488,114
-other receivables 11,445 - - 3,709 
-cash & banks 3,652,189 283 82 3,685,380 - -

Financial liabilities
-trade payables (176,795) - - (390,196) - -
-other payables (36,327) - (506) - - -
-short term borrowings (2,096,952) - - (1,913,793) - -
-accruals  (230,932) - - (127,384) - -
-amount due to related co. - (72,444)  - - - -
-amount due to 
shareholder  (3,163,418) - - (3,496,028) - -  
Short term exposure (1,395,596) (72,161) 888,337 (1,611,084) - 488,114 
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27. Financial instruments (continued)

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the net result for the year and equity in regards to the Group’s 
financial assets and financial liabilities and the GBP – USD, GBP – RMB and GBP – HKD exchange rate. The 
sensitivity analysis is based on the Group’s foreign currency financial instruments held at each balance sheet date.

If the GBP had strengthened against the RMB, USD and HKD by 5% (2007:2%), 2% (2007:1%) and 2% (2007:1%) 
respectively, then this would have had the following increase /(decrease) in the net result for the period and equity.

 As at 30  As at 31
 September 2008 December 2007
 £ £
 RMB HKD USD RMB HKD USD
 +5% +2% +2% +2% +1% +1%

Net result for the year 59,799 1,431 (15,185) 26,841 - (4,020)
Equity 59,799 1,431 (15,185) 26,841 - (4,020)

If the GBP had weakened against the RMB, USD and HKD by 10% (2007:5%), 2% (2007:1%) and 2% (2007:1%) 
respectively, then this would have had the following increase /(decrease) in the net result for the year and equity.

 As at 30 As at 31
  September 2008 December 2007
 £ £
 RMB HKD USD RMB HKD USD
 -10% -2% -2% -5% -1% -1%

Net result for the year (119,594) (1,303) 15,805 (67,101) - 4,101
Equity (119,594) (1,303) 15,805 (67,101) - 4,101

 Company
The Company is not exposed to foreign currency risk as most of the transactions are denominated in GBP, except 
there was one legal advisory service fee charge which was billed in Renminbi (“RMB”) for amount RMB602,259 
(equivalent to GBP44,370) during the period.

 Interest rate sensitivity

 Group
The Group’s policy is to minimise interest rate cash flow risk exposure on long-term financing. Longer term 
borrowings are therefore usually at fixed rates. As at 30 September 2008, most of the Group’s interest-bearing 
loans entered are short term borrowings with less than one year tenure. 

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to the fluctuation of the prevailing market 
interest rate on interest-bearing financial assets and financial liabilities. Interest-bearing financial assets are mainly 
balances with banks which are short term in nature.
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27. Financial instruments (continued)

The Group’s interest rate risk arises from interest-bearing financial liabilities that mainly are short-term borrowings 
arrangements. Borrowings issued at variable rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. Borrowings 
issued at fixed rates expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk. 

 Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to variable interest rate for non-
derivative instruments at the balance sheet date. For variable-rate borrowings, the analysis is prepared assuming 
the amount of liability outstanding at the balance sheet date was outstanding for the whole year. 

A 100 basis point increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management 
personnel and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rate. 

Group As at 30  As at 31
 September 2008 December 2007
 Change in interest rate Change in interest rate
 +1% -1% +1% -1%
 £ £ £ £

Cash and banks 44,654 (21,312) 36,849 (26,908)
Bank loan borrowings (15,727) 15,727 (19,138) 19,138   
 (28,927) 5,585 (17,711) (7,770)   

As at 30 September 2008, if interest rates had been 100 basis points higher/ lower and all other variables were 
held constant, this would increase/decrease the Group’s profit after tax and retained earnings by approximately   
GBP28,927 /(GBP5,585) (2007: increase/decrease by GBP17,711 or (GBP7,770)).

The 100 basis point increase/decrease represents management’s assessment of a reasonably possible change in 
interest rates over the period until the next annual balance sheet date.

 Company

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the net result for the period and equity to a reasonably possible 
change in interest rates of +1% and -1%, with effect from the date of incorporation. These changes are considered 
to be reasonably possible based on observation of current market conditions. The calculations are based on the 
Company’s financial instruments held as at the balance sheet date. All other variables are held constant.

 As at 30 September 2008
 Change in interest rate
 +1% -1%
 £ £

Cash and banks 21,312 (21,312)   
 21,312 (21,312)   
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27. Financial instruments (continued)

 Credit risk analysis

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event of the counterparties’ failure to perform their 
obligations as at 30 September 2008 in relation to each class of recognised financial assets is the carrying value of 
those assets as stated in the consolidated balance sheet, as summarised below:

Group
 As at 30  As at 31
 September  December
 2008 2007
 £ £

Trade and other receivables 1,868,978 1,119,950
Amount due from related company 2,216,383 -
Cash and cash equivalents 6,501,950 3,685,380  
 10,587,311 4,805,330  

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade receivables. The amounts of trade receivables presented in 
the consolidated balance sheet are net of allowances for doubtful receivables. In order to minimise the credit risk, 
the management of the Group continuously monitors defaults of customers and other counterparties, identified 
either individually or by group, and incorporates this information into its credit risk controls. The Group’s policy is 
to deal only with creditworthy counterparties.

In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount of each individual trade and other debt at each balance 
sheet date to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. 
 
The Group’s management consider that all the above financial assets that are not impaired for each of the 
reporting dates under review are of good credit quality.

The credit risk on liquid funds is considered negligible because the counterparties are banks with high credit-
ratings. 

As at 30 September 2008, 86.9% of trade receivables amount were current whilst the balancing amount was due 
between 1-30 days.

Company  As at 30 
  September
   2008
  £

Trade, other receivables and VAT recoverable  323,577
Cash and cash equivalents  2,848,637  
  3,172,214  

  In respect of trade and other receivables and VAT recoverable, the Group is not exposed to any significant credit 
risk exposure. 
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27. Financial instruments (continued)

 Liquidity risk analysis

 Group

The Group’s objective is to ensure adequate funds to meet commitments associated with its financial liabilities.

Cash flows are closely monitored on an ongoing basis. The Group manages its liquidity needs by carefully 
monitoring scheduled debt servicing payments for long term and short term financial liabilities as well as cash-
outflows due in day-to-day operation. Capital investments are committed only after confirming the source of 
funds;	e.g.	securing	long	term	financial	facilities.		Liquidity	needs	are	monitored	in	various	time	bands,	on	a	day-to-
day basis, as well as on the basis of a rolling one month and three months projection. Long term liquidity needs for 
a 360-day lookout period are identified in the year end budget.
 
The Group maintains cash to meet its liquidity requirements for up to 30 day periods. Funding for long term 
liquidity needs is additionally secured by an adequate amount of committed credit facilities.

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents 
deemed adequate by management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in 
cash flows. Management monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings from time to time and is of the opinion that 
most of the bank borrowings can be renewed based on the strength of the Group’s earnings and asset base.

Any repayments for amounts due to related parties or shareholders are negotiated so as not to jeopardise 
the working capital requirement of the Group.  To date, such related parties and shareholders have expressed 
continued support to the Group.

The following table details the Group’s contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table has 
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which 
the Group and the Company can be required to pay.  

The maturity profile of the Group’s and the Company’s financial liabilities as at the balance sheet date, based on 
the contracted undiscounted payments, were as follows:

  Current
As at 30 September 2008 Less than  Less than 3 to 12

 1 month 3 months months   
 £ £ £

Interest bearing loans and borrowings 1,724,712* - 372,240
Trade and other payables 765,552 98,114 171,006
Amount due to shareholders and directors - - 3,163,418
Amount due to related companies 222,271 - 72,444   

 2,712,535 98,114 3,779,108   

(note: the financial liabilities amount shown above did not include tax liabilities payables) 

*  The majority of the interest bearing loans have been renewed for 3-12 months beginning November 2008.
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27. Financial instruments (continued)

This compares to the maturity of the Group’s financial liabilities in the previous reporting period as follows:

  Current
As at 31 December 2007 Less than  Less than 3 to 12

 1 month 3 months months   
 £ £ £

Interest bearing loans and borrowings - - 1,913,793
Trade and other payables 517,580 - -
Amount due to shareholders and directors - 761,585 2,734,443
Amount due to related companies - - -   

 517,580 761,585 4,648,236   

(note: the financial liabilities amount shown above did not include tax liabilities payables) 

The above contractual maturities reflect the gross cash flows, which may differ to the carrying values of the 
liabilities at the balance sheet date.

 Company

As at 30 September 2008, the Company’s liabilities have contractual maturities which are summarized below:

 Less than  Less than 3 to 12
 1 month 3 months months   
 £ £ £

Trade and other payables 386,640 98,114 134,173
Amount due to shareholders and directors 222,271 - -   

 608,911 98,114 134,173   

(note: the financial liabilities amount shown above did not include tax liabilities payables) 

 Carrying value of financial assets and liabilities

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities approximates their carrying amounts, as the impact 
of discounting is not significant.  The fair values are based on cash flows discounted using a rate based on the 
borrowing rate of 7.5%.
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AS AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2008

28. Controlling party

Sorbic International is a public listed company with no single controlling party with Prime Mega International Ltd 
holding 42.71% and Albany Capital Plc holding 38.34% as the two largest shareholders.

29. Acquisitions

On 29 September 2008, Honour Field completed the reverse acquisition of Sorbic International for a notional 
consideration of up to £20.12 million excluding acquisition costs reflecting the fair value of net assets acquired and 
the transaction costs, as explained in the accounting policies. 

Sorbic International was incorporated on 15 June 2007. It was established in order to acquire a controlling interest 
in a company, partnership or joint venture located in Europe, North America or Asia. Sorbic International reported, 
in respect of the period from 15 June 2007 to 29 September 2008, turnover of £nil, operating loss of £34,667 and 
loss after tax of £34,667.

The fair value of net assets acquired is set out in the following table:

   Acquisition
   amounts
   £
 

Trade and other receivables   323,577
Cash and cash equivalents   2,848,637
Trade and other payables   (841,198)   

Net assets   2,331,016
Acquisition costs   874,724   
 
Total cost of acquisition   3,205,740   
 
The net cash flow in the period arising on the acquisition was: 
Acquisition costs   (874,724)
Net cash acquired   2,848,637   
 
Net cash inflow   1,973,913   

 

On 21 April 2008, Honour Field acquired the entire equity interest in Linyi Van Science at a purchase consideration 
of £3,624,495.
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30. Investment in subsidiary

Company    As at
   30 September
   2008
   £

Cash consideration   -
Shares issued to Prime Mega for the acquisition of Honour Field  15,120,000
Additional shares issued to Hermes Financial and Albany Capital   2,000,000
Listing expenses    863,735   

Total investment in subsidiary   17,983,735   

31. Notes to the company cash flow statement

 31.1 Proceeds from issue of shares

 As at As at As at
 30 September 30 September 30 September
 2008 2008 2008
 £ £ £
 Share capital Share premium Total

Shares issued on 15 June 07 at 0.1p 0.02 - 0.02
Shares issued on 26 July 07 at 0.1p 55,000 - 55,000
Shares issued on 19 Oct 07 at 1p 319,500 2,875,500 3,195,000
Shares issued on 29 Sept 08 at 75p 19,210 220,914 240,124   

 
 393,710 3,096,414 3,490,124   

 31.2 Payment of transaction costs

Transaction costs are professional fees paid to lawyers, accountants and advisers for the Company in connection 
with the shares issued in relation to the reverse acquisition of Honour Field group.

32. Parent company results

No income statement has been prepared for the parent company as allowed by section 230 of the Companies 
Act 1985.  The Company has made a net loss of £99,755 for the period ended 30 September 2008.

AS AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2008
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SORBIC INTERNATIONAL PLC
(Incorporated in England and Wales with registered number 06280431)

Registered office:
17 Hanover Square
London W1S 1HU

Date: 23 December 2008

To all shareholders

Notice of General Meeting

Dear Shareholder,

I am pleased to be writing to you with details of a general meeting (the “Meeting”) of Sorbic International plc (the 
“Company”).  The Meeting is due to take place on 14 January 2009 at 10.00 a.m. at the offices of Fasken Martineau 
LLP, 17 Hanover Square, London, W1S 1HU.   The formal notice of the Meeting is set out in this document.

The Meeting is being held to:

 (i)  comply with the statutory requirement that the Company’s annual accounts and reports must be laid 
before	its	members	in	a	general	meeting;

 (ii)  give the directors of the Company (the “Directors”) general powers of allotment in respect of the 
Company’s	authorised	but	unissued	share	capital;	and

 (iii)  authorise the Directors to disapply statutory rights of pre-emption in relation to the issue of new shares or 
share rights in the Company.

You will be given the opportunity to raise any questions in relation to each of the resolutions at the Meeting. 

Recommendation

The Directors consider that all of the resolutions set out in the notice of the Meeting are in the best interests of the 
Company and its members as a whole. Accordingly, the Directors unanimously recommend that you vote in favour of 
each resolution as they intend to do in respect of their own holdings of shares in the Company.

Yours sincerely,

John McLean
Chairman

LETTER TO ALL SHAREHOLDERS
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SORBIC INTERNATIONAL PLC
(Incorporated in England and Wales with registered number 06280431)

NOTICE OF GENERAL MEETING

Notice is hereby given that a General Meeting of Sorbic International plc (the “Company”) will be held at the offices of 
Fasken Martineau LLP, 17 Hanover Square, London W1S 1HU on 14 January 2009 at 10.00 a.m. for the purpose of 
considering and, if thought fit, passing the following resolutions of which numbers 1 and 2 will be proposed as Ordinary 
Resolutions and number 3 will be proposed as a Special Resolution:

ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS

1.  To receive and adopt the Company’s annual accounts for the financial year ended 30 September 2008 together 
with the last directors’ report and auditors’ report on those accounts.

2.  THAT the Directors be and they are hereby generally and unconditionally authorised to exercise all of the 
powers of the Company to allot relevant securities (within the meaning of Section 80 of the Companies Act 1985 
(the “1985 Act”),) up to an aggregate nominal amount of £457,152 provided that this authority shall expire on 
the earlier of the conclusion of the next following Annual General Meeting of the Company or the date falling 
fifteen months from the date of passing this resolution unless and to the extent that such authority is renewed 
or extended prior to such date so that the Company may before such expiry make an offer or agreement 
which would or might require relevant securities to be allotted in pursuance of such offer or agreement as if the 
authority conferred hereby had not expired. This authority shall be in substitution for any other authority to allot 
relevant securities but is without prejudice to the continuing authority of the Directors to allot relevant securities 
in pursuance of an offer or agreement made before the expiry of the authority pursuant to which such offer or 
agreement was made.

SPECIAL RESOLUTION

3.  THAT subject to resolution numbered 2 above being passed, the Directors be and they are hereby empowered 
pursuant to Section 95 of the 1985 Act, to allot equity securities (within the meaning of Section 94 of the 1985 
Act), pursuant to the authority granted by resolution numbered 2 above as if Section 89(1) of the 1985 Act did 
not apply to such allotment provided that this power shall be limited to: 

(i)  the allotment of equity securities on a pro rata basis in favour of shareholders where the equity securities 
respectively attributable to the interests of all shareholders are proportionate (as nearly as may be) 
to the respective number of Ordinary Shares held by them, but subject to such exclusions and other 
arrangements as the Directors may deem necessary or expedient to deal with legal or practical problems 
in	respect	of	overseas	holders,	fractional	entitlements	or	otherwise;	and

(ii)  the allotment (other than pursuant to sub-paragraph (i) above) of equity securities having in the case of 
relevant shares (as defined for the purposes of section 89 of the 1985 Act) a nominal amount or, in the 
case of other equity securities, giving the right to subscribe for or to convert into relevant shares having a 
nominal amount, not exceeding £138,531 in aggregate,
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this power shall be in substitution for all such powers previously given but is without prejudice to the continuing 
power of the Directors to allot equity securities pursuant to an offer or agreement made by the Company 
before the date this resolution is passed and such power shall expire on the earlier of the conclusion of the next 
following Annual General Meeting of the Company or the date falling fifteen months from the date of passing this 
resolution unless and to the extent that such authority is renewed or extended prior to such date so that the 
Company may before such expiry make an offer or agreement which would or might require the Directors to 
allot equity securities in pursuance of such an offer as if the authority conferred hereby had not expired.

By Order of the Board
June Paddock
Company Secretary

Registered office:
17 Hanover Square
London W1S 1HU

Date:  23 December 2008

NOTICE OF GENERAL MEETING



Sorbic International Plc

68

NOTES

Entitlement to attend and vote

1. Pursuant to Regulation 41 of the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001, the Company specifies that only those 
members registered on the Company’s register of members at 10.00 a.m. on 12 January 2009 or, if this Meeting is 
adjourned, at 10.00 a.m. on the day two days prior to the adjourned meeting, shall be entitled to attend and vote at the 
Meeting.

Appointment of proxies

2. If you are a member of the Company at the time set out in note 1 above, you are entitled to appoint a proxy to 
exercise all or any of your rights to attend, speak and vote at the Meeting and you should have received a proxy form 
with this notice of meeting. You can only appoint a proxy using the procedures set out in these notes and the notes to 
the proxy form.

3. A proxy does not need to be a member of the Company but must attend the Meeting to represent you. Details of 
how to appoint the Chairman of the Meeting or another person as your proxy using the proxy form are set out in the 
notes to the proxy form. If you wish your proxy to speak on your behalf at the Meeting you will need to appoint your 
own choice of proxy (not the Chairman) and give your instructions directly to them.

4. You may appoint more than one proxy provided each proxy is appointed to exercise rights attached to different shares. 
You may not appoint more than one proxy to exercise rights attached to any one share. To appoint more than one proxy, 
it will be necessary to notify the registrar in accordance with Note 6 below. 

5. A vote withheld is not a vote in law, which means that the vote will not be counted in the calculation of votes for or 
against the resolution. If no voting indication is given, your proxy will vote or abstain from voting at his or her discretion. 
Your proxy will vote (or abstain from voting) as he or she thinks fit in relation to any other matter which is put before 
the Meeting.

Appointment of proxy using hard copy proxy form

6. The notes to the proxy form explain how to direct your proxy how to vote on each resolution or withhold their vote. 
To appoint a proxy using the proxy form, the form must be:

	 •	 completed	and	signed;
	 •	 	sent	or	delivered	to	Computershare	 Investor	Services	PLC,	PO	Box	1075,	The	Pavilions,	Bridgwater	Road,	

Bristol	BS99	3FA;	and	
	 •	 received	by	Computershare	Investor	Services	PLC	no	later	than	10.00	a.m.	on	12	January	2009.

In the case of a member which is a company, the proxy form must be executed under its common seal or signed on its 
behalf by an officer of the company or an attorney for the company. Any power of attorney or any other authority under 
which the proxy form is signed (or a duly certified copy of such power or authority) must be included with the proxy 
form.
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Appointment of proxy by joint members

7. In the case of joint holders, where more than one of the joint holders purports to appoint a proxy, only the 
appointment submitted by the most senior holder will be accepted. Seniority is determined by the order in which the 
names of the joint holders appear in the Company’s register of members in respect of the joint holding (the first-named 
being the most senior).

Changing proxy instructions

8. To change your proxy instructions simply submit a new proxy appointment using the methods set out above. Note 
that	 the	cut-off	 time	 for	 receipt	of	proxy	appointments	 (see	above)	also	apply	 in	 relation	 to	amended	 instructions;	 any	
amended proxy appointment received after the relevant cut-off time will be disregarded.  Where you have appointed 
a proxy using the hard-copy proxy form and would like to change the instructions using another hard-copy proxy 
form, please contact Computershare Investor Services PLC.  If you submit more than one valid proxy appointment, the 
appointment received last before the latest time for the receipt of proxies will take precedence.

Termination of proxy appointments 

9. In order to revoke a proxy instruction you will need to inform the Company by sending a signed hard copy notice 
clearly stating your intention to revoke your proxy appointment to Computershare Investor Services at PO Box 1075, 
The Pavilions, Bridgewater Road, Bristol BS99 3FA. In the case of a member which is a company, the revocation notice 
must be executed under its common seal or signed on its behalf by an officer of the company or an attorney for the 
company. Any power of attorney or any other authority under which the revocation notice is signed (or a duly certified 
copy of such power or authority) must be included with the revocation notice.  The revocation notice must be received 
by Computershare Investor Services no later than 10.00 a.m. on 12 January 2009. If you attempt to revoke your proxy 
appointment but the revocation is received after the time specified then, subject to the paragraph directly below, your 
proxy appointment will remain valid.  Appointment of a proxy does not preclude you from attending the Meeting 
and voting in person. If you have appointed a proxy and attend the Meeting in person, your proxy appointment will 
automatically be terminated.

Issued shares and total voting rights

10. As at 5.00 p.m. on 28 December 2008 the Company’s issued share capital comprised 23,088,499 ordinary shares of 
6 pence each. Each ordinary share carries the right to one vote at a general meeting of the Company and, therefore, the 
total number of voting rights in the Company as at 5.00 p.m. on 28 December 2008 is 23,088,499.

Communication

11. Except as provided above, members who have general queries about the Meeting should call the shareholder helpline 
of Computershare on 0870 707 1652. No other methods of communication will be accepted.

You may not use any electronic address provided either in this notice of general meeting, or any related documents 
(including the Chairman’s letter and proxy form) to communicate with the Company for any purposes other than those 
expressly stated.
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SORBIC INTERNATIONAL PLC
(Incorporated in England and Wales with registered number 06280431)

General Meeting
Proxy Form

Before completing this form, please read the explanatory notes overleaf.

I/We being a member of Sorbic International plc (the “Company”) appoint the Chairman of the meeting or (see note 3) 

as my/our proxy to attend, speak and vote on my/our behalf at the General Meeting of the Company to be held on 14 
January 2009 at 10.00 a.m. and at any adjournment of the meeting.

I/We direct my/our proxy to vote on the following resolution as I/we have indicated by marking the appropriate box with 
an ‘X’. If no indication is given, my/our proxy will vote or abstain from voting at his or her discretion and I/we authorise 
my/our proxy to vote (or abstain from voting) as he or she thinks fit in relation to any other matter which is put before 
the meeting.

For Against Vote withheld*

1
Ordinary Resolution to receive and 
adopt the Report and Accounts

2
Ordinary Resolution to authorise the 
Directors to allot relevant securities

3
Special Resolution to disapply statutory 
pre-emption rights in relation to the issue 
of new shares in the Company

*  A ‘vote withheld’ is not a vote in law and will not be counted in the calculation of the proportion of the votes for and 
against the resolution.

Signature Date

Print Name

PROXY FORM

✂
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Notes

1.  As a member of the Company you are entitled to appoint a proxy to exercise all or any of your rights to attend, 
speak and vote at a general meeting of the Company. You can only appoint a proxy using the procedures set out 
in these notes.

2.  Appointment of a proxy does not preclude you from attending the meeting and voting in person. If you have 
appointed a proxy and attend the meeting in person, your proxy appointment will automatically be terminated.

3.  A proxy does not need to be a member of the Company but must attend the meeting to represent you. To 
appoint as your proxy a person other than the Chairman of the meeting, insert their full name in the box. If you 
sign and return this proxy form with no name inserted in the box, the Chairman of the meeting will be deemed 
to be your proxy. Where you appoint as your proxy someone other than the Chairman, you are responsible for 
ensuring that they attend the meeting and are aware of your voting intentions. If you wish your proxy to make any 
comments on your behalf, you will need to appoint someone other than the Chairman and give them the relevant 
instructions directly.

4.  You may appoint more than one proxy provided each proxy is appointed to exercise rights attached to different 
shares. You may not appoint more than one proxy to exercise rights attached to any one share. To appoint more 
than one proxy, you must notify the registrar in accordance with Note 6 below.

5.  To direct your proxy how to vote on the resolutions mark the appropriate box with an ‘X’. If no voting indication 
is given, your proxy will vote or abstain from voting at his or her discretion. Your proxy will vote (or abstain from 
voting) as he or she thinks fit in relation to any other matter which is put before the meeting.

6.  To appoint a proxy using this form, the form must be: 
	 •	 completed	and	signed;
	 •	 	sent	or	delivered	to	Computershare	 Investor	Services	PLC,	PO	Box	1075,	The	Pavilions,	Bridgwater	Road,	

Bristol	BS99	3FA;	and
	 •	 received	by	Computershare	Investor	Services	PLC	no	later	than	10.00	a.m.	on	12	January	2009.

7.  In the case of a member which is a company, this proxy form must be executed under its common seal or signed 
on its behalf by an officer of the company or an attorney for the company.

8.  Any power of attorney or any other authority under which this proxy form is signed (or a duly certified copy of 
such power or authority) must be included with the proxy form.

9  In the case of joint holders, where more than one of the joint holders purports to appoint a proxy, only the 
appointment submitted by the most senior holder will be accepted. Seniority is determined by the order in which 
the names of the joint holders appear in the Company’s register of members in respect of the joint holding (the 
first-named being the most senior).

11.  If you submit more than one valid proxy appointment, the appointment received last before the latest time for 
the receipt of proxies will take precedence.

12.  For details of how to change your proxy instructions or revoke your proxy appointment see the notes to the 
notice of meeting.

13.  You may not use any electronic address provided in this proxy form to communicate with the Company for any 
purposes other than those expressly stated.




